
Dated:  September 8, 2023  *  Denotes Information Not Enclosed 

AGENDA 
 

 REGULAR OPEN MEETING OF THE BOARD OF EDUCATION 
SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 58 (NICOLA-SIMILKAMEEN) 

 
PSS CONFERENCE ROOM 

WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 13, 2023, 6:00 P.M. 
 

Success for ALL Learners Today and Tomorrow 
 
 
1.  Acknowledgement of the Traditional Territories and Metis Community 
 
 
2.  Agenda 
 
 
3.  Minutes of the Regular Meeting held June 14, 2023. 
 
 
4.  Business Arising from the Minutes 
 
 
5.  AUDIT AND FINANCE 
   

a) 2022/23 Year End Review 
 
Motion to un-restrict $182,475 of local capital and transfer to operating to 
offset extraordinary costs incurred throughout the 2022/23 school year. 
 

b) 2022/23 Audited Financial Statements (Virtual Presentation, BDO Canada) 
 

Motion to approve and sign the 2022/23 audited financial statements. 
 

c) Carry Forward Targeted Funds 
 
Motion to submit a letter to the Ministry requesting that the school district 
underspend Indigenous Education dollars by $27,150 for the 2022/23 school 
year, and carry forward the targeted funds into the 2023/24 school year. 

 
 
6.  EDUCATION 

 
a) Student Trustees 

 
 * b)  Presentation – Summer Learning 

 
c)  Framework for Enhancing Student Learning Report 

 
d) Equity in Action – Theory of Change 

 



Dated:  September 8, 2023  *  Denotes Information Not Enclosed 

e) Feeding Futures Fund 
 

f) Accessibility Act Update 
 

g) Art For War and Peace Project 
 

      *  h)  Superintendent’s Report 
 
 
7.  OPERATIONS 
 

a) Flood Insurance Claim Update 
 

b) 2023/24 Capital – Food Infrastructure Program (New Funding) 
Motion to approve the capital submission for the 2023/24 Food 
Infrastructure Program that was introduced by MOECC after the 2023/24 
Capital Plan was approved. 

 
  c) Merritt Central School Bus Stop 
 
8.   POLICY 
 

a) Procedural By-Law 
 

Motion for First Reading 
 
 
9.  TRUSTEE REPORTS 
 
 * a) Student Trustee Reports 
 
 * b) P.A.C. Reports 
 

c) 2023/24 Board Meeting Dates 
 

d) 2023/23 Committee Meeting Dates 
 
 * e) Other Reports 
 
 * f) October Branch Meeting 
   
 
 
10.  CORRESPONDENCE 
 
 
11.  PUBLIC QUESTION PERIOD 
 
 
12.  ADJOURNMENT   



MINUTES 
 

 REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF 
SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 58 (NICOLA-SIMILKAMEEN) 

MERRITT SCHOOL BOARD OFFICE 
WEDNESDAY, JUNE 14, 2023, 6:00P.M. 

 

Success for ALL Learners Today and Tomorrow 
 
PRESENT: Chairperson G. Swan 
  
 Trustees J. Jepsen  
  J. Kent-Laidlaw 
  E. Hoisington  
  J. Chenoweth  
  L. Ward  
  D. Rainer 
 
 Student Trustees O. Bateson 
  R. Anderson 
 
 Superintendent S. McNiven 
 
 Assistant Superintendent J. Kempston  
 
 Secretary Treasurer D. Richardson  
 
 Assistant Secretary Treasurer L. Rusnjak 
  
 Executive Assistant J. McGifford  
                                                                                                           
  
 ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF THE TRADITIONAL TERRITORIES AND METIS 

COMMUNITY  
 
  
 AGENDA 
 
23/047 It was moved and seconded: 
 
 THAT the agenda be approved as presented. 
  

 MOTION CARRIED 
 

  
 
 
 
 



 2 

  
 MINUTES 
 
 
23/048 It was moved and seconded:  
 
 THAT the minutes of the Regular Meeting May 10, 2023, be adopted as amended.  
 

MOTION CARRIED 
 
 Business Arising from the Minutes 
 
 None 
 

 
EDUCATION COMMITTEE 

 

 Student Trustee Recognition: 

 

Superintendent McNiven recognized the leadership and contributions of graduating 
Student Trustees Kaelan Druck and River Anderson. 

 

  Equity Scan Presentation: 

 
 Assistant Superintendent, Jane Kempston, provided a presentation on the results 
of the District’s recently completed Equity Scan.  The Equity Scan Committee met 
on June 12, 2023, to begin their analysis of the District Equity Profile.  The results 
will be used by the committee to develop a Theory of Change and an Equity Action 
Plan for 2023-2024. 
 

 
Field Trips: 
 

 The Superintendent introduced Merritt Secondary School Principal, Adriane 
Mouland and Teacher, Ms. Brigden.  They brought forward a field trip proposal to 
Costa Rica during Spring Break 2025. 

 
 
23/049 It was moved and seconded: 
 
 THAT the Board support the request for the Merritt Secondary School field trip to 

Costa Rica during Spring Break 2024-2025.  
 
                 MOTION CARRIED 

 
 
 



 3 

French Immersion Growth Grant: 
 
Assistant Superintendent Kempston informed the Board that the District was 
awarded a 2023-2024 grant in the amount of $307,000 to support the French 
Immersion (FI) program growth.   She outlined the initiatives that will be 
supported with the assistance of this additional funding including the 
establishment of the French Immersion Advisory Committee. 

 
 
Accessibility Act Update: 
 
The Superintendent provided Trustees with information on the Nicola-
Similkameen Accessibility Act Committee.  He described the make-up of the 
committee as well as their scope of work towards the development of the 
District’s Accessibility Plan (a requirement of the Accessibility Legislation of B.C.) 
with a September 1, 2023, deadline. 

 
Superintendent’s Report: 

 
The Superintendent circulated and spoke to his report, reflecting on the many 
events that occurred across the District over the past month.   

 
 
OPERATIONS COMMITTEE 

 

2023-2024 Amended Capital Plan Bylaw: 

 

Secretary Treasurer Richardson provided Trustees with the Ministry response letter 
to the amended Annual Five-Year Capital Plan submission for 2023-2024. 

Amended Capital Plan Bylaw No. 2023/24-CPSD58-02 was brought forward for 
approval by the Board.  The approval of this bylaw will allow for the signing and 
submission of the revised Annual Programs Funding Agreement to the MOECC 
Capital Management Branch. 

 
23/050 It was moved and seconded: 
 
 THAT Amended Capital Plan Bylaw No. 2023/24-CPSD58-02 be approved for first 

reading. 
  

 MOTION CARRIED 
 

23/051 It was moved and seconded: 
 
 THAT Amended Capital Plan Bylaw No. 2023/24-CPSD58-02 be approved for second 

reading. 
  

 MOTION CARRIED 
 



 4 

 
 
 

 
23/052 It was moved and seconded: 
 THAT Amended Capital Plan Bylaw No. 2023/24-CPSD58-02 be moved to third 

reading. 
  

 MOTION CARRIED 
23/053 It was moved and seconded: 
 
 THAT Amended Capital Plan Bylaw No. 2023/24-CPSD58-02 be approved for third 

and final reading. 
  

 MOTION CARRIED 
 

2024/2025 Major/Minor 5-Year Capital Plan Submission: 

 

The Secretary Treasurer provided the Board with a description of the proposed 
projects that together form the 2024-2025 Major and Minor Capital plan 
Submission.   With the Board’s approval the 2024/2025 Capital Plan for 
Major/Minor projects will be submitted to the Ministry, meeting the June 30, 2023 
submission deadline.  The opportunity for question and answer followed. 

 
23/054 It was moved and seconded: 
 
 THAT the 2024/2025 Capital Plan Submission be approved for submission to the 

Ministry. 
  

 MOTION CARRIED 
 

 Operations Update: 

 

The Secretary Treasurer introduced Operations Manager, Darrell Finnigan, who 
provided an update on school district operations and maintenance over the 2022-
2023 school year.  A magnitude of thanks was given to Mr. Finnigan and his team for 
the extensive amount of work that has been completed this year. 

 

Flag Raising Protocol: 

 

The Superintendent provided information on two informal flag raising requests that 
have been brought forward.  These requests were for a United Nations and Pride 
flag.  As there is no current policy in place regarding flag raising, Board Chair Swan 
recommended the Superintendent make an informed decision until a Flag Raising 
policy is developed. 

 



 5 

23/055 It was moved and seconded: 
 
 THAT the Superintendent make decisions on flag raising protocols until policy work 

is complete, approved, and in force. 
 MOTION CARRIED 

 
AUDIT AND FINANCE COMMITTEE 

 

2023-2024 Annual Budget Bylaw: 

 

   Secretary Treasurer Richardson provided the Board with an update on the 
2023/2024 Annual Budget.  

 
23/056 It was moved and seconded: 
 
 THAT the 2023/24 Annual Budget Bylaw be approved for first reading. 
  

 MOTION CARRIED 
 

23/057 It was moved and seconded: 
 
 THAT the 2023/24 Annual Budget Bylaw be approved for second reading. 
  

 MOTION CARRIED 
 

23/058  It was moved and seconded: 
 
 THAT the 2023/24 Annual Budget Bylaw be moved to third reading. 
  

 MOTION CARRIED 
23/059  It was moved and seconded: 
 
 THAT the 2023/24 Annual Budget Bylaw be approved for third and final reading. 
  

 MOTION CARRIED 

  
 
POLICY  

 

Policy Committee Report:   

 

The Superintendent spoke to the memo in the board package outlining the new 
Policy Committee members, the Policy Committee Terms of Reference, an 
overview of the Policy Audit process, a review of draft Policy 1.40 (Policy 
Development and Currency), as well as future Policy Committee meeting dates. 

 



 6 

 

 

 

 

Policy 1.40 – Policy Development and Currency: 

 

Superintendent McNiven presented the revised draft version of Policy 1.40 – 
Policy Development and Currency.  This policy has been reviewed by the Policy 
Committee with their input included in the second draft which is now being 
brought forward for second and third (final) readings. 

 
23/060 It was moved and seconded: 
 
 THAT Policy 1.40 – Policy Development and Currency be approved for second reading 

as amended. 
  

 MOTION CARRIED 
 

23/061  It was moved and seconded: 
 
 THAT Policy 1.40 – Policy Development and Currency be moved to third and final 

reading. 
  

 MOTION CARRIED 
23/062  It was moved and seconded: 
 
 THAT Policy 1.40 – Policy Development and Currency be approved for third and final 

reading. 
  

 MOTION CARRIED 

 

TRUSTEE REPORTS 

 
Student Trustee Reports: 

 
Student Trustees Owen Bateson and River Anderson shared their power point 
presentation and reported on Merritt Secondary School activities as well as some 
of the elementary school events in the north end of the District. 

 

Aboriginal Advisory Committee Report: 

 

The Superintendent and Trustee Chenoweth provided Trustees with an update on 
the Aboriginal Advisory Committee meeting held June 6th.  Targeted funds, 
Summer Learning Support, Curriculum, administration costs, mental health 



 7 

supports, the want for increased input and agency in the AAC budget process, and 
graduation rates (both on and off reserve) were noted. 

 

 

 

Trustee Reports: 
 

Trustee Chenoweth reported on Collettville Elementary. 

Trustee Rainer reported on Vermilion Forks Elementary. 

Trustee Hoisington reported on Nicola Canford Elementary. 

Trustee Ward reported on John Allison Elementary. 

Trustee Kent-Laidlaw was not able to attend Princeton Secondary School’s 
meeting. 

Trustee Jepsen reported on Diamond Vale Elementary and Merritt Central 
Elementary. 

Trustee Swan reported on Merritt Bench Elementary and Merritt Secondary 
School.   

Recruitment strategies for next year PAC’s and DPAC are a focus for all groups. 

 
 

2023-2024 Board Meeting Dates: 
 
The Superintendent spoke to the memo in the Board package requesting monthly 
Board meetings be moved to the third Wednesday of each month to facilitate 
financial reporting.  This will be brought forward for further discussion. 

    
  
 CORRESPONDENCE 
 
 None. 
 
 
 PUBLIC QUESTION PERIOD 
 
 None. 
 
 
 ADJOURNMENT 
 
 The regular meeting adjourned at 8:20 pm. 
 
 
 ________________________ ___________________________ 
 Chairperson Secretary Treasurer 



THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF 
SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 58 (NICOLA-SIMILKAMEEN) 

 
ADMINISTRATION OFFICE 

 
  
                               P.O. Box 4100, 1550 Chapman Street, Merritt, B.C., V1K 1B8, Phone: (250) 378-5161 
 

Success for ALL Learners ~ Today and Tomorrow 

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: All Trustees  FROM: Dylan Richardson 
     Secretary Treasurer/CFO 
 
RE: 2022/23 YEAR END REVIEW  DATE: September 8, 2023 
 
Trustees will find a copy of the Financial Statements Discussion and Analysis (FSDA) report 
enclosed.  This report is due to the Ministry of Education and Child Care September 30, 2023. 
The FSDA provides an overview of significant items, transactions, and events presented in the 
school district’s financial statements and the factors that influenced them. The school district’s 
financial statements are a consolidation of three distinct areas: Operating Fund, Special Purpose 
Fund, and Capital Fund. 
 
In addition to the enclosed FSDA, I would like to provide Trustees with a year-end update on the 
operating fund. The district’s operating fund finished with an operating deficit of $-718,516 on a 
planned deficit of $-536,041, exceeding plans by $182,475. Factors that lead to this outcome 
include: 
 

· Salaries for support staff and education assistants were higher than budgeted as a result 
of labour settlement funding that was unknown when the amended budget was prepared. 

· Extraordinary service and supply costs for transportation (unexpected bus repairs, higher 
than expected costs for fuel and oil, parts, bus repairs, hoist repairs). Higher than 
expected overtime (regular bus routes and field trips) due to a shortage of relief drivers. 

· Extraordinary service and supplies costs for maintenance – MSS Chiller Repairs, DVE RTU 
replacement, increased occurrences, and increased costs (inflation) of General 
maintenance/electrical/plumbing/custodial, supplies costs, and higher than expected 
overtime incurred. 

· Higher than expected utilities costs.  We anticipated pre 2021/22 utilities usage with 
abnormally high usage due to the flood event in Nov 2021.  

· During the final quarter of the school year, our financial forecast supported the purchase 
of technology, allowing the district to get ahead of its technology needs for the upcoming 
school year. Also, during the final quarter of the year, the district converted its CUPE 
payroll to a bi-weekly format. As a result of this transition, the final support staff pay 
period for the school year was not factored into the financial forecast, applying additional 
pressure on our final costs for the school year. We have since updated our forecast 
template with an inventory of the total number of pay periods within each month to 
prevent such an oversight from occurring in the future. 



 
Trustees will be requested to entertain a motion to un-restrict $182,475 of local capital and 
transfer to the district’s operating fund. By moving these funds, the draw on the district’s 
accumulated operating surplus will be reduced from $-718,516 to $-536,041. 
 
The accumulated operating surplus at the beginning of the school year, $2,824,943, would be 
reduced by -536,041 for a new accumulated operating surplus balance of $2,228,902. 
 
The annual budget for the 2023/24 school year plans for an additional drawdown on 
accumulated operating surplus of, $-503,986. 
 
Following this year end update the board’s external auditor, Mr. Piroddi, will present the audited 
financial statement for the year ended, June 30, 2023. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dylan Richardson 
Secretary Treasurer/CFO 
 
 
DR/jmg 



 

 

Nicola-Similkameen Public Schools, SD No. 58 
Financial Statement Discussion & Analysis 

 
Year ended June 30, 2023 

 
 
 
 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Introduction …………………………………….………………………………………………………………………………..........… 2 
 
Overview of the School District …..…………………………..…………………………………………………………………… 2 
 
Strategic Plan, guiding principles, vision, and mission……………………………………………………………………2 
 
School District Values………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..…3 
 
Composition of the Financial Statements ………………………………………………………….…………………………. 4 
 
Statement of Financial Position ……………………………………………………………………….………………………..… 5 
 
Statement of Operations …………………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 8 

- Operating Fund ……………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 9 
- Special Purpose Funds ………………………………………………………………………………………………..……9 
- Capital Fund ……………………………………………………………………………………………………………….... 10 

 
Summary and other Significant Matters ………………………………………………………………………………….…. 11 
 
Contacting Management ……………………………………………………………………………………………………...…… 11 
 
 
  

 



  
Financial statement discussion and analysis 2 | PAGE 

 

INTRODUCTION 
 
This is a discussion and analysis of the financial statements for Nicola-Similkameen Public Schools 
(SD No. 58, the ‘District’) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023. This report should be read in 
conjunction with the District’s consolidated financial statements of the same period. 
 
The purpose of the Financial Statement Discussion & Analysis is to highlight information and provide 
explanations which enhance the reader’s understanding of the school district’s financial statements 
as well as factors that influenced the financial results.  This report is a summary of the district’s 
financial activities, based on currently known facts, decisions, and conditions.  The statements 
illustrate, in financial terms, how resources have been allocated and consumed during the fiscal year. 
 
The preparation of this financial statement discussion and analysis is management’s responsibility. 
All dollar amounts are reported to the nearest thousand. 
 
SCHOOL DISTRICT OVERVIEW 
 
Located in the Similkameen and Nicola valleys, the District serves six First Nations, the Metis peoples, 
amongst various communities throughout the Similkameen and Nicola valleys.  The district provides 
educational services to approximately 2,400 students.  These services include an Indigenous 
Education Program, late French Immersion, opportunities for youth work in trades and secondary 
apprenticeships, numerous sports, Distributed Learning and Alternative Programming.  The district 
is situated on the traditional and unceded territories of the Nłeʔképmx and Syilx people and it values 
the knowledge and contributions that our Métis Communities provide.  The District strives to 
increase awareness, understanding and integration of Indigenous culture, history and language in all 
SD58 schools. It is part of the School District’s ongoing commitment to Truth and Reconciliation. 
 
The governing body of the School District is a Board of Education made up of seven trustees who are 
each elected for a four-year term, with three trustees elected in the Town of Princeton, three elected 
in the City of Merritt , and one trustee elected in the Thomson Nicola Regional District.  The District’s 
day-to-day operations are carried out by the administrative staff of the School District under the 
leadership of the Superintendent of Schools, the District’s Chief Executive Officer, and, the Secretary 
Treasurer, the District’s Chief Financial Officer. 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN 

 
      In June 2021, the School District completed its strategic plan, in consultation with all 

stakeholders—a group represented by more than 450 voices. While the full strategic plan is 
available on the School District’s website, www.SD58.bc.ca, it’s three priorities include: 

 
1. Meaning & Purpose 

· Engage our learning community through a common understanding and 
commitment to the purpose and pursuit of student success. 

2. Appreciation & Respect 
· Create a culture of care built on respect and appreciation 

3. Connection 
· Build capacity by connecting students, families, staff and the greater community 

to learning. 



  
Financial statement discussion and analysis 3 | PAGE 

 

GUIDING PRINCIPLES 
 

1. Innovation & promising educational practices 
2. Inclusion, equity, dignity, and diversity 
3. Relationships built on trust & mutual respect 
4. The well-being of student, families, staff, and the community 
5. The pursuit of excellence, personal best, and citizenship 
6. The heritage and culture of Indigenous people and the recognition of the traditional 

territories of the Nłeʔképmx and Syilx peoples 
7. The important role families have in their children’s education 

 

 
 
VISION 
 
Success for all learners, today and tomorrow. 
 
MISSION 
 

· Supporting excellent in teaching and learning. 
· Challenging and supporting staff and our students to pursue their personal best. 
· Recognizing and celebrating cultural diversity and the heritage of our communities. 
· Encouraging parental involvement with students at home and school through 

meaningful relationships with families and communities. 
· Fostering resilience, resourcefulness, respect and independence. 
· Inspiring curiosity, creativity and critical thinking in all students and staff to achieve 

their full potential. 
· Recruiting the best qualified personnel, providing ongoing, systematic professional 

development, and retaining outstanding staff. 
· Providing timely, relevant, and useful information and data to students, staff, parents, 

and partner groups. 
 

VALUES 
 

· Inclusive education and partnerships. 
· The diversity of our communities. 
· Fairness and due process in decision making. 



  
Financial statement discussion and analysis 4 | PAGE 

 

· The heritage and culture of Aboriginal (Inuit, Indian and Metis) and First Nations 
people, with recognition of the traditional territory of the local Nłeʔképmx and 
Syilx people. 

· The dignity of all individuals. 
· The important role of parents and caregivers in support of their child’s education. 
· The pursuit of excellence and personal best. 
· The well-being of students and staff. 
· Parental and student choice with respect to how, when, and where learning takes 

place. 
· Responsible Citizenship.  
· Regular, effective, and relevant communications. 
· Positive relationships based on trust and mutual respect. 
· Innovation and promising educational practices. 

 
SCHOOLS 
 
Elementary Schools 

· Diamond Vale Elementary School 
· École Élémentaire Collettville School 
· John Allison Elementary School 
· Merrit Bench Elementary School 
· Merritt Central Elementary School 
· Nicola Canford Elementary School 
· Vermillion Forks Elementary School 

 
Secondary Schools 

· Merritt Secondary School 
· Princeton Secondary School 

 
Alternate Programs 

· Community Learning Centre (Merritt Alternate) 
· The Bridge (Princeton Alternate) 

 
Distributed Learning (Online) 

· South Central Interior Distance Education School (SCIDES) 
 

COMPOSITION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
School district financial statements are prepared in accordance with Section 23.1 of the Budget 
Transparency and Accountability Act of the Province of British Columbia.  This Section requires that 
the financial statements be prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting 
standards, except regarding the accounting for government transfers. 
 
The two key audited statements are: 
 

· The Statement of Financial Position summarizes the school district’s assets and 
liabilities at June 30, 2023.  This provides an indication of the financial health of the 
school district. 



  
Financial statement discussion and analysis 5 | PAGE 

 

 
· The Statement of Operations summarizes the revenues received and expenses 

incurred between July 1, 2022, and June 30, 2023.  This statement provides an 
indication of the funding received by the school district and how that funding was 
spent. 

 
The Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets (Debt), the Statement of Cash Flows 
and the Notes to the Financial Statements are also audited and provide further analysis of 
the District’s finances.   
 
Financial performance is difficult to ascertain in the audited Financial Statements, as they are a 
consolidation of three distinct areas: 
 

· The Operating Fund (Schedule 2); 
· Special Purpose Funds (Schedule 3); and the 
· Capital Fund (Schedule 4). 

 
The schedules are included at the end of the financial statements, following the Notes to the Financial 
Statements, in a format prescribed by the Ministry of Education and Child Care.  The schedules 
include more details specific to each of the three areas, providing increased transparency and 
accountability.  The balances reported in the schedules, when consolidated, are consistent with the 
balances reported in the statements. 

 
Schedule 1 illustrates a breakdown of the accumulated surplus on Statement 1into the three 
reporting areas: 1) operating, 2) special purpose, 3) capital. 

 
Schedule 2 provides detail on the Operating Fund, which accounts for the operating grants 
and other operating revenues.  Legislation requires that the School District present a 
balanced budget for the Operating Fund, whereby budgeted expenditures do not exceed 
budgeted revenues, and any surplus used to balance the budget is appropriated from 
surpluses carried forward in previous years. 

 
Schedule 3 provides detail on the Special Purpose Funds, which are grants and contributions 
that are directed towards specific activities, typically connected to a third party agreement.  
As these are targeted grants, any unspent funding is accounted for as deferred revenue, not 
as accumulated surplus. 

 
Schedule 4 provides detail on the Capital Fund.  The various schedules in this section report 
on the acquisition, amortization and disposal of district’s acquired assets, capital revenues 
and expenses, work in progress, and unpsent revenue provided to the district for ongoing 
projects.  All of the funds designated as capital in these schedules either represent the cost of 
assets the district has already acquired, or are restricted by the Board of Education or the 
Ministry of Education for future capital asset purchases. 
 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 
Financial Assets are assets available to discharge existing liabilities or finance future operations.  
Overall, there was no significant change from the prior year’s overall balances. 
 



  
Financial statement discussion and analysis 6 | PAGE 

 

 
 
At June 30, 2023, the District held $8.8 million Cash and Cash equivalents, deposited in financial 
institutions and the Province’s central deposit system. The District’s cash balance offsets the 
liabilities of the School District and unspent funds restricted for use on specific projects. The decrease 
in the District’s liabilities is the primary reason that the District’s cash position decreased by $1.2 
million over the past year.  
 
Accounts Receivable from the Ministry of Education and Child Care decreased by $1.0 million, 
reflecting the flood-insurance proceeds that were received during the current year. The District has 
a Local Education Agreement (LEA) with its First Nations Rights Holders. The provisions of the LEA  
flow student funding from Indigenous Services Canada to each of the First Nations, and then to the 
School District—for students living on-reserve and attend public school.  Accounts Receivable from 
First Nations increased slightly over last year, as did Other Receivables (GST Receivable).  
 
Liabilities represent obligations that have been incurred by the School District.  Total liabilities 
increased from the prior year by $0.6 million. 
 

 
 
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities is mainly comprised of employee remittances for payroll 
deductions, accumulated employee vacation, flood insurance claim, accrued wages and trades 
payable, which includes a significant amount for capital projects and flood related expenses. 
 
Unearned Revenue is represented by rental revenue received, that is for future periods. 
 
Deferred Revenue is externally restricted, unspent, revenue for specific programs such as 
Community Link, Strong Start, Ready Set Learn, After School Sport and Arts, and includes School 
Generated Funds.  
 
Deferred Capital Revenue is closely linked to the tangible capital asset balance. Revenue used in the 
acquisition of the Schol District’s assets is amortized over the expected life of respective capital 
assets. Of the District’s $33.7 million in tangible capital assets (Statement 1), $24 million represents 
capital revenue that is yet to be recognized, or amortized, over the remaining expected life of the 

In Thousands 2023 2022 Change
Cash and Cash Equivalents 8,868$          10,118$   (1,250)$    
Accounts Receivable - Due from Ministry of Education and Child Care 455               1,454        (999)         
Accounts Receivable - Due from Province - Other -                -            -           
Accounts Receivable - Due from First Nations 547               477           70             
Accounts Receivable - Due from Other 598               510           88             
Total 10,468$        12,559$   (2,091)$   

In Thousands 2023 2022 Change
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilites 2,996$          3,794$     (798)$       
Unearned Revenue 2                    1               1               
Deferred Revenue 1,415            1,280        135          
Deferred Capital Revenue 24,090          22,841     1,249       
Employee Future Benefits 1,308            1,318        (10)           
Asset Retirment Obligation 2,535            2,535        -           
Total 32,346$        31,769$   577$        



  
Financial statement discussion and analysis 7 | PAGE 

 

District’s assets. 
 
The employee future benefits liability of $1.3 million is represented by the total benefits (For 
Example: retirement, vacation) owed to current employees, recognizing past work completed as well 
as an estimation for future expected payments. As employees leave the employment of the School 
District, this liability is reduced. An actuarial tool, that is updated every three years, is used to 
calculate this liability, factoring in assumptions such as total employees, age, length of service, 
amongst other established actuarial assumptions. 
 
Asset Retirement Obligation (ARO) is a liability that is associated with the eventual retirement of a 
fixed asset. The liability for ARO is commonly a legal requirement to return a site to its previous 
condition. Some examples of these costs include the remediation of hazardous materials such as 
asbestos, vermiculite, and oil containers.  The school district did not recognize an additional liability 
to ARO for the fiscal year.  
 
Nonfinancial Assets 
 
A nonfinancial asset is an asset that derives its value from physical traits. Some key examples 
include land, buildings, and equipment. For the fiscal year, the District’s nonfinancial assets have 
increased by $1.3 million, represented by tangible capital assets and prepaid expenses. 
 

 
 
Tangible Capital Assets include land, buildings, construction projects in progress, furniture, 
equipment, vehicles, computers, and software.   
 
Prepaid Expenses represent costs that have been paid in advance of the next fiscal year and will 
become expenses in a future period. 
 
Accumulated Surplus 
 
The accumulated surplus for the School District is represented by the following funds: 
 

 
 
Accumulated surplus represents the Board’s residual interest in its assets after deducting liabilities.  
Most of this balance is unavailable to fund operations as it is either internally restricted, or has 
already been used to invest in buildings, equipment, and other capital assets. During the school year, 
the School District incurred extraordinary operating costs. To mitigate these extraordinary costs, the 

In Thousands 2023 2022 Change
Tangible Capital Assets 33,784$        32,710$   1,074$     
Prepaid Expenses 494               290           204          
Total 34,278$        32,932$   1,278$     

In Thousands 2023 2022 Change
Operating Fund 2,289$          2,825$     (536)$        
Special Purpose Funds -                -            -            
Local Capital Fund 2,168            2,915        (747)          
Capital Fund 7,944            8,050        (106)          
Total 12,401$       13,790$   (1,389)$    



  
Financial statement discussion and analysis 8 | PAGE 

 

District unrestricted dollars from its Local Capital Fund and transferred this amount to its operating 
fund. As a result, the local capital fund was reduced by $182 thousand to offset these expenses. The 
remaining change in the Local Capital Fund is represented by planned capital asset purchases during 
the year.  The accumulated operating surplus was reduced by budgeted amount of $0.536 million. 
The accumulated surplus for the capital fund was reduced by $0.106 million.  This result is a 
combination of revenues and expenses that include: 1) Amortization of deferred capital revenue 2) 
amortization of tangible capital assets, 3) purchase of tangible capital assets using local capital, and 
4) purchase of tangible capital assets from Special Purpose Funds. 
 
 
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS 
 
The Statement of Operations is a consolidation of revenues and expenditures in the operating, special 
purpose and capital funds.  Each of these funds is discussed separately below. 
 
Consolidated revenues from all sources increased from $40.7 million in 2022 to $42.6 million in 
2023.  86% of total revenue is from the Ministry of Education and Child Care and the other 14% 
comes from several different sources, such as rentals and leases of school district property, 
investment income and amortization of deferred revenue. 
 

 
 
Operating Fund revenue 
 
The District received $22.8 million from the Ministry of Education and Child Care in the form of the 
operating grant, which is based on student enrolment and other student, staffing and geographical 
factors.  Unannounced labour settlement funding, along with a reduction in funding due to student 
enrolment, the net result is an increase in operation grant dollars over the amended annual budget. 
The remaining funding totaled $3.6 million, which is primarily represented by the District’s Local 
Education Agreement with First Nations. 
 

 
 

In Thousands Change
Ministry Grants 36,595$        86% 35,535$   87% 1,060$     
Grants from Other Ministries 55                  0% 98             0% (43)           
Federal Grants -                0% 18             0% (18)           
Other Revenue 4,497            11% 3,896        10% 601          
Rentals and Leases 91                  0% 65             0% 26             
Investment Income 327               1% 96             0% 231          
Amortization of Deferred Capital Revenue 1,063            2% 1,044        3% 19             
Total 42,628$        100% 40,752$   100% 1,876$     

2023 2022

In Thousands 2023 2022

Amended 
Annual 
Budget

Variance 
from Prior 

Year

Variance 
from 

Budget
Ministry Grants 22,804$        22,827$   22,119$   (23)$         685$        
Grants from Other Ministries 56                  64             34             (8)              22             
Federal Grants -                18             -            (18)            -           
Other Revenue 3,217            3,128        3,522        89             (305)         
Rentals and Leases 91                  65             74             26             17             
Investment Income 278               78             148           200           130          
Total 26,446$        26,180$   25,897$   266$         549$        



  
Financial statement discussion and analysis 9 | PAGE 

 

Operating Fund expenditures 
 
Expenditures in the District’s Operating Fund totaled $27.2 million. 
 

 
 
Overall, salaries and benefits were underbudget however, Education Assistants and Support Staff 
were over budget due to labour settlement costs that were unannounced and therefore, not captured 
in the amended annual budget. Services and Supplies were over budget due to extraordinary 
operating costs incurred by the School District throughout the school year.  
 
The School District’s operating fund finished the year with a deficit of $0.732 million, and with the 
transfer in of unrestricted local capital dollars, the operating deficit is reduced to $0.536 million. The 
District started the year with an accumulated operating surplus of $2.8 million; after applying the 
deficit of $0.536 million, the accumulated operating surplus at the end of the year is, $2.2 million.  
With the exception of 2021-22, the School District has been intentional about using its accumulated 
operating surplus for the past several years, as expressed in the chart below. Looking ahead at the 
2023-24 Annual Budget, the District is budgeting a drawdown of $0.504 million. 
 

 
 
Special Purpose Funds 
 
Special Purpose Fund’s revenues are restricted grants designated for specific purposes or programs.  
Revenue is recognized only when it is expended, not when it is received.  Balances can often be 

In Thousands 2023 2022

Amended 
Annual 
Budget

Variance 
from Prior 

Year

Variance 
from 

Budget
Teachers 8,685$          8,392$     8,592$     293$         93$          
Principals and Vice-Principals 2,089            2,072        2,231        17             (142)         
Educational Assistants 2,612            2,442        2,356        170           256          
Support Staff 3,193            2,970        2,739        223           454          
Other Professionals 1,253            1,073        1,314        180           (61)           
Substitutes 1,050            1,021        1,322        29             (272)         

18,882          17,970     18,554     912           328          
Employee Benefits 4,107            4,102        4,273        5               (166)         
Services and Supplies 4,175            3,524        3,605        651           570          
Total 27,164$        25,596$   26,432$   1,568$     732$        

(641,141.00)

(341,763.00) (358,935.00)

(1,295,524.00)

(258,209.00)

79,746.00 

(536,041.00)

 (1,400,000.00)

 (1,200,000.00)

 (1,000,000.00)

 (800,000.00)

 (600,000.00)

 (400,000.00)

 (200,000.00)

 -

 200,000.00

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23

Change In Accumulated Operating Surplus (By Year)



  
Financial statement discussion and analysis 10 | PAGE 

 

deferred to subsequent years for the intended purpose.  Some funds require Ministry approval to 
carry forward and other funds that carry a surplus at the end of the year reduce the funding received 
in the next fiscal year. Special purpose funds are typically connected to an agreement with a third 
party, with guidelines for how respective funds are to be disbursed.  
 

 
 
The District expended $6.8 million in Special Purpose Funds in the year. Examples of the District’s 
special purpose funds include: classroom enhancement fund, learning improvement fund, 
Community LINK, Student Family & Affordability, Strong Start, Early Learning, Seamless Day 
Kindergarten, Just B4, Strengthening Early Years to Kindergarten Transitions, scholarships & 
bursaries, school generated funds. 
 

 
 
Capital Fund 
 
Capital revenues are represented in part by the amortization of deferred capital revenue – this is 
the current year’s recognition of Deferred Capital Revenue for the district’s assets.  Deferred Capital 
Revenue is amortized (taken into revenue) over the useful life of the district’s capital assets, and 
not necessarily when the money is received. $8.2 million recognizes the ongoing insurance claims 
for the overland flooding events of November 2021, while $1 million recognizing the amortization 
of deferred capital revenue for respective capital projects completed throughout the school year. 
 

 
 
The recognition of capital revenue has a close nexus with the capital expenditures carried out by 
the School District. Below are capital expenditures including the amortization of tangible capital 
assets and flood restoration costs. 
 

In Thousands 2023 2022

Amended 
Annual 
Budget

Variance 
from Prior 

Year

Variance 
from 

Budget
Ministry of Education and Child Care 5,520$          4,996$     5,755$     524$         (235)$       
Grants from Other Ministries 35             (35)            -           
Other Revenue 1,279            768           655           
Investement Income 1               (1)              -           
Total 6,799$          5,800$     6,410$     488$         (235)$       

In Thousands 2022 2022

Amended 
Annual 
Budget

Variance 
from Prior 

Year

Variance 
from 

Budget
Instruction 6,565$          5,487$     5,995$     1,078$     570$        
District Administration -                -            116           -            (116)         
Operations and Maintenance 29                  106           144           (77)            (115)         
Transportation and Housing 90                  55             115           35             (25)           
Total 6,684$          5,648$     6,370$     1,036$     314$        

In Thousands 2023 2022

Amended 
Annual 
Budget

Variance 
from Prior 

Year

Variance 
from 

Budget
Ministry of Education and Child Care 8,271$          7,712$     9,288$     559$         (1,017)$    
Investment Income 49                  18             10             
Amortization of Deferred Capital Revenue 1,063            1,044        1,019        19             44             
Total 9,383$          8,774$     10,317$   578$         (973)$       



  
Financial statement discussion and analysis 11 | PAGE 

 

 
 
The School District received $2.2 million in capital grants in 2022/23, as well as $8.3 million for 
flood restoration.  
 
The School District invested $1.67 million in capital building additions, and $0.674 million for work 
in progress. Building capital additions including roofing and window roll shutters projects under 
the SEP capital program, and building maintenance projects under the AFG program.  Work in 
progress includes the start of various AFG projects for the 23/24 school year, and HVAC and major 
electrical projects under the SEP and CNCP capital programs. 
 
Furniture and equipment assets of $187k, computer software of $154k and computer hardware of 
$272k were also purchased with Special Purpose Funds Local Capital. 
 
SUMMARY OF OTHER SIGNIFICANT MATTERS  
 
The School District submitted a balanced budget to the Ministry of Education for the 2022/23 Fiscal 
Year that will continue to deliver the mix of programs and services currently offered to students in 
our schools.  Moving into 2023/24 and beyond, there are several factors that may impact the School 
District’s operations and financial position. 
 
Replacement Costs / Availability / Employee Wellness 
 
While the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the subsequent overland flooding events on 
replacement costs has decreased, it is still too early to assess the long-term effect on employee 
wellness.  In addition, the unavailability of relief staff, due mainly to labour shortages, made it 
challenging for employees to take time off to be away from work. 
 
Inflation And The Cost of Doing Business 
 
Inflation continues to play a significant factor in the day-to-day operations of the School District. 
With Canada’s inflation rate at 6.8%, 3.4% for 2022 and 2021 respectively, combined with a steady 
increases in the Bank of Canada’s key lending rate, signs of inflationary easing remain to be seen. 
Add onto this supply-chain and labour-shortage constraints, it is likely that the District will be faced 
with these challenges heading into the new school year. 
 
CONTACTING MANAGEMENT 
 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the School District’s finances and 
to demonstrate accountability for the public fund received by the school district. 
 
If you have questions about the financial report, please contact the Office of the Secretary 
Treasurer/CFO at 250-378-5161. 

In Thousands 2023 2022

Amended 
Annual 
Budget

Variance 
from Prior 

Year

Variance 
from 

Budget
Amortization of Tangible Capital Assets
     - Operations and Maintenance 1,881$          1,795$     1,853$     86$           28$          
Flood Restoration 8,288            7,695        9,288        593           (1,000)      
Total 10,169$        9,490$     11,141$   679$         (972)$       



  
Financial statement discussion and analysis 12 | PAGE 

 

 
You can also find additional information on the district, and its strategic vision, on our website:  
www.SD58.bc.ca. 



THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF 
SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 58 (NICOLA-SIMILKAMEEN) 

 
ADMINISTRATION OFFICE 

 
  
                               P.O. Box 4100, 1550 Chapman Street, Merritt, B.C., V1K 1B8, Phone: (250) 378-5161 
 

Success for ALL Learners ~ Today and Tomorrow 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
TO: All Trustees  FROM: Dylan Richardson 
     Secretary Treasurer/CFO 
 
RE: 2022/23 Audited Financial Statements  DATE: September 8, 2023. 
 
Trustees will find enclosed the 2022-23 Financial Statement Package-Draft.pdf, where the 
Board’s external auditor, BDO Canada LLP, will join the meeting virtually and guide Trustees 
through the audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended, June 30, 2023 (2022/23 
school year). 
 
Trustees will be requested to made a motion to approve and sign the 2022/23 audit financial 
statements.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dylan Richardson 
Secretary Treasurer/CFO 
 
 
DR/jmg 



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Tel:  250 372 9505
Fax:  250 374 6323
www.bdo.ca

BDO Canada LLP
300 – 275 Lansdowne Street
Kamloops BC V2C 6J3

BDO Canada LLP, a Canadian limited liability partnership, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, and forms part of the
international BDO network of independent member firms.

Page 2

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Board of Education of School District No. 58 (Nicola-Similkameen)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of School District No. 58 (Nicola-Similkameen) (the “District”),
which comprise the statement of financial position as at June 30, 2023, and the statements of operations,
changes in net debt and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the District as at June 30, 2023, and its result of operations, change in net debt and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the accounting requirements of Section 23.1 of
the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act of the Province of British Columbia.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the District in accordance
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2 to the financial statements which describes
the basis of accounting and the significant differences between such basis of accounting and Canadian
public sector accounting standards.

Unaudited Information

We have not audited, reviewed or otherwise attempted to verify the accuracy or completeness of the
exhibits on pages 24 through 38 of School District No. 58 (Nicola-Similkameen)'s financial statements.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Section 23.1 of the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act of the Province of British
Columbia, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the District’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the District or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the District’s financial reporting process.Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Page 3

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Districts’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the District’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the District to cease to continue
as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Chartered Professional Accountants

Kamloops, British Columbia
September 13, 2023Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



Dr
af

t -
 Fo

r d
isc

us
sio

n p
ur

po
se

s o
nly



THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF 
SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 58 (NICOLA-SIMILKAMEEN) 

 
ADMINISTRATION OFFICE 

 
  
                               P.O. Box 4100, 1550 Chapman Street, Merritt, B.C., V1K 1B8, Phone: (250) 378-5161 
 

Success for ALL Learners ~ Today and Tomorrow 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
TO: All Trustees  FROM: Dylan Richardson 
     Secretary Treasurer/CFO 
 
RE: CARRY-FORWARD TARGETED DOLLARS  DATE: September 8, 2023. 
 
Trustees will be provided with an overview of revenue and expenses for Indigenous Education, 
targeted dollars, finishing the school year with a surplus of, $27,151, at June 30, 2023. 
 
Trustees will be requested to make a motion to submit a letter to the Ministry of Education and 
Child Care, requesting permission to underspend Indigenous Education dollars by $27,150 for 
the 2022/23 school year, and carry forward the targeted funds into 2023/24 (letter enclosed). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dylan Richardson 
Secretary Treasurer/CFO 
 
 
DR/jmg 



Budget Actuals

22/23 22/23

Final Total

Revenue
    Funded Students 820              820              
    Targeted Grant 1,565$        1,565$         
     Sub-Total 1,283,300   1,283,300   

    Appropriated Surplus 11,165        11,165         

Total Revenue 1,294,465   1,294,465   
Total Expenses 1,294,465   1,267,314   

Surplus (Deficit) 0                  27,151         

SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 58 (NICOLA-SIMILKAMEEN)
Indigenous Education, Targeted Dollars
Fiscal Year 2022/2023 at June 30, 2023



THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF 
SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 58 (NICOLA-SIMILKAMEEN) 

 
ADMINISTRATION OFFICE 

 
  
                P.O. Box 4100, 1550 Chapman Street, Merritt, B.C., V1K 1B8, Phone: (250) 378-5161, Fax: (250) 378-6263 
 

Success for ALL Learners ~ Today and Tomorrow 

 
September 8, 2023 
 
 
 
Ministry of Education and Child Care 
School District Financial Reporting Branch 
Resource Management Division 
PO Box 9151 
Victoria, BC 
V8W 9H1 
 
Attention:  Honourable Jennifer Whiteside, Minister of Education and Child Care 
 
Dear Ms. Whiteside: 
 

RE: Carry Forward of Targeted Funds 
 
The Board of Education for School District No. 58 (Nicola-Similkameen) respectfully requests approval to 
under-spend its Indigenous Education amount for the year ended June 30, 2022, in the amount of $27,151.   
 
Approval is requested for a variation of direction under Section 106.4(2) of the School Act. Our 
district understands that any under-spent funds from 2022/23 will be added to the 2023/24 school 
year targeted amounts to be expended on Indigenous Education programs. 
 
Yours truly, 
 
 
 
Gordon Swan 
Board Chair 
 
GS/jm 
 



THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF 
SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 58 (NICOLA-SIMILKAMEEN) 

 
ADMINISTRATION OFFICE 

  
  

P.O. Box 4100, 1550 Chapman Street, Merritt, B.C., V1K 1B8, Phone: (250) 378-5161, Fax: (250) 378-6263 
 

Success for ALL Learners ~ Today and Tomorrow 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
TO: All Trustees FROM: Jane Kempston 
   Assistant Superintendent  
  
RE: STUDENT TRUSTEES DATE: September 7, 2023.   
  
 
 
Student trustees bring a vibrancy and “lived experience” perspective to our Board Meetings that are of great 
value to us all.  In the past, student trustees have given us snapshots into the events that have taken place in 
schools that have been very enjoyable.  During our recent Equity Scan process, it is clear that students are 
wanting to have more of a voice at all levels, and we are wondering if a new role for student trustees might be to 
discuss topics that are important to the larger trustee group as well as themselves.  For example, if the Board 
wanted student perspective on racism or access to food, we could send those questions to the student trustees to 
give them time to prepare.  They would no doubt offer a valuable student perspective at the Board table.  
 
Considering this, we are asking for trustee recommendations on how to best move forward with student trustees 
to ensure that you are getting what is useful for you as trustees and honours the work of both our Strategic Plan 
and the Equity Scan. 
 
 
 

 
JK/sc 



THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF 
SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 58 (NICOLA-SIMILKAMEEN) 

 
ADMINISTRATION OFFICE 

 
 

                                      P.O. Box 4100, 1550 Chapman Street, Merritt, B.C., V1K 1B8, Phone: (250) 378-5161 
 

Success for ALL Learners ~ Today and Tomorrow 

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: All Trustees  FROM: Stephen McNiven 
     Superintendent of Schools 
  
RE: FRAMEWORK FOR ENHANCING STUDENT DATE: September 7, 2023. 
 LEARNING REPORT 
 
 
Senior Staff will provide a presentation on the Framework for Enhancing Student Learning Report due to the 
Ministry of Education and Child Care on October 2nd. 
 
Enhancing Learning – SD58 Nicola-Similkameen 
 
 
 

 
 
SMcN/sc 



THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF 
SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 58 (NICOLA-SIMILKAMEEN) 

 
ADMINISTRATION OFFICE 

  
  

P.O. Box 4100, 1550 Chapman Street, Merritt, B.C., V1K 1B8, Phone: (250) 378-5161, Fax: (250) 378-6263 
 

Success for ALL Learners ~ Today and Tomorrow 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
TO: All Trustees  FROM: Jane Kempston 
     Assistant Superintendent  
  
RE: EQUITY IN ACTION – THEORY OF CHANGE DATE: September 7, 2023   
  
 
We are at the stage of developing a Theory of Change based on the data collected in last years’ scan. A Theory 
of Change is a systematic and visual representation of how an initiative (in this case an Equity Scan) means to 
achieve its desired outcomes and impact. It outlines the relationship between activities, outputs, outcomes and 
long-term goals, helping stakeholders understand the logic behind the approach being taken.  By articulating 
these connections, a Theory of Change serves as a roadmap for planning, implementing, and evaluating 
interventions, and fosters clarity alignment aiming rights holders and stakeholders. The Equity Scan Committee 
will be working to determine actions based on the themes/gaps/strengths that came out of our scan. 
 
In alignment with the initial feedback form the Equity Scan regarding representation, we are also requesting that 
trustees consider a motion to begin the process of updating the Nicola-Similkameen logo. 
 
Thank you for your consideration. 
 
 

 
JK/sc 



THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF 
SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 58 (NICOLA-SIMILKAMEEN) 

 
ADMINISTRATION OFFICE 

  
  

P.O. Box 4100, 1550 Chapman Street, Merritt, B.C., V1K 1B8, Phone: (250) 378-5161, Fax: (250) 378-6263 
 

Success for ALL Learners ~ Today and Tomorrow 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
TO: All Trustees FROM: Jane Kempston 
   Assistant Superintendent  
  
RE: FEEDING FUTURES FUND DATE: September 7, 2023   
  
 
 
The Nicola-Similkameen Schools have received a Feeding Futures grant of $350,000.00 from the Ministry of 
Education and Child Care to address food insecurity for students requiring support.  Daniella Bennie very 
graciously completed a scan of what is currently happening across the district so that we can address issues of 
inequity and accessibility for every student requiring food regardless of school attended. What we are 
respectfully looking for from the Board is guidance around how you would like to see these dollars disbursed: 
on a per-student basis or based on vulnerable students.   
 
Your consideration is very much appreciated. 
 
 

 
JK/sc 



THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF 
SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 58 (NICOLA-SIMILKAMEEN) 

 
ADMINISTRATION OFFICE 

  
  

P.O. Box 4100, 1550 Chapman Street, Merritt, B.C., V1K 1B8, Phone: (250) 378-5161, Fax: (250) 378-6263 
 

Success for ALL Learners ~ Today and Tomorrow 

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: All Trustees FROM: Barbara McLean 
   Director of Human Resources  
  
RE: ACCESSIBILITY ACT UPDATE DATE: September 7, 2023   
  
 
District staff will provide an update on the Accessibility Plan process.  Below is a draft action plan that will be shared and 
further developed with the Accessibility Plan Committee: 

 
 

 
Barb McLean 
 
BMcL/sc 



THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF 
SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 58 (NICOLA-SIMILKAMEEN) 

 
ADMINISTRATION OFFICE 

 
 

                                      P.O. Box 4100, 1550 Chapman Street, Merritt, B.C., V1K 1B8, Phone: (250) 378-5161 
 

Success for ALL Learners ~ Today and Tomorrow 

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: All Trustees  FROM: Stephen McNiven 
     Superintendent of Schools 
  
RE: ART FOR WAR AND PEACE PROJECT  DATE: September 7, 2023. 
  
 
The district is pleased to bring forward for each of the schools in Princeton a presentation on the Art for War 
and Peace project.  The presentation will include an overview of the book Art for War and Peace – How a Great 
Art Project Helped Canada Discover Itself, which will be placed in each of the libraries in Princeton along with 
a print originally produced by Sampson-Matthews. 
 

What is the Sampson-Matthews Collection? 
 
 
Under the guidance and supervision of Group of Seven members A.J. Casson and A.Y. Jackson, the most 
renowned Canadian artists came together during World War II to create a unique war effort art project. At the 
Government of Canada’s request and in collaboration with the National Gallery of Canada, some of these 
artists’ best and most inspirational works were selected and meticulously reproduced as oil silkscreens by 
Sampson-Matthews Limited, Canada’s leading colour printing production firm in the mid-twentieth century. 
These works were originally produced for the Canadian troops abroad who used them to decorate their 
barracks, ships, hospitals and mess halls, to boost morale, and to remind them of their homeland and what they 
were fighting for. At the same time and during the decades after the war, these works were also hung in schools, 
libraries, banks, government offices, embassies, consulates and corporate offices throughout Canada and 
abroad. Today they are widely recognized for their defining contribution to the way Canadians view their 
nation. They reinforced the Group of Seven’s motherhood role in the history of Canadian art and popularized 
the imagery of landscape as the primary Canadian visual motif. All of the works in this collection are original 
silkscreens produced between 1943 and 1957 under the supervision of Group of Seven member, A.J. Casson. 

 
https://sampson-matthews.com/ 

 
 

 
 
SMcN/sc 



THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF 
SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 58 (NICOLA-SIMILKAMEEN) 

 
ADMINISTRATION OFFICE 

 
  
                               P.O. Box 4100, 1550 Chapman Street, Merritt, B.C., V1K 1B8, Phone: (250) 378-5161 
 

Success for ALL Learners ~ Today and Tomorrow 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
TO: All Trustees  FROM: Dylan Richardson 
     Secretary Treasurer/CFO 
 
RE: FLOOD INSURANCE CLAIM UPDATE  DATE: September 8, 2023. 
 
The school district is nearing completion of flood insurance claims that ensued as a result of the 
overland flooding in November 2021. Enclosed is an update from the school district’s project 
manager, Mr. Boyd, providing an overview of work completed this past school year as well as 
outstanding work in the final stages of the insurance claims. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dylan Richardson 
Secretary Treasurer/CFO 
 
 
DR/jmg 



THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF 
SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 58 (NICOLA-SIMILKAMEEN) 

 
ADMINISTRATION OFFICE 

 
  
                               P.O. Box 4100, 1550 Chapman Street, Merritt, B.C., V1K 1B8, Phone: (250) 378-5161 
 

Success for ALL Learners ~ Today and Tomorrow 

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Secretary Treasurer  FROM: Doug Boyd 
     Project Manager 
 
RE: Flood Insurance Summary  DATE: September 8, 2023. 
 
OVERVIEW: 
 
As of August 2023, we have passed the one year anniversary of substantial completion of the 
flood remediation project. As part of wrapping up the process Dylan Richardson and I toured the 
facilities along with Tim Hedrick (Representative for the Restoration contractor – On Side) on 
August 21.   We were very pleased with the status of all facilities and grounds.  Prior to this 
review we had reached out to the Administration of each facility requesting them to identify any 
concerns they may have.  Additionally, during the tour, we had the opportunity to meet and 
discuss any issues and were pleased to be informed that all was well. The restoration work was 
completed at a very high standard which not only met the functionality component but was 
aesthetically pleasing as well.  Custodians have shared their appreciation for the new no-wax 
flooring that was installed.  This assists in maintaining the high standards they seek. 
 
A crew from On Side was also on site at Central Elementary working on the final remediation of 
the humidity issue in the crawl space with completion of the installation of a vapour barrier as 
well as plywood walkways to each of the recently installed dehumidifiers/equipment.  We initially 
had some resistance from the School Protection Program (SPP) regarding the installation of this 
equipment, DDC controls and vapour barrier as it was not originally in place.  However, we were 
persistent and successfully articulated our position that it would be unfortunate to leave the 
space in a state that may cause further issues down the road. In this case authorization was 
received by the Ministry. Over the past few months staff also identified damaged pipe insulation 
in the crawlspace that had not been replaced.  Our discussions with the adjuster and restoration 
contractor resulted in a thorough examination during the inspection tour including sampling of 
the insulation in areas in question. This resulted in confirmation that some insulation still 
requires remediation, and we are now organizing this to take place as soon as possible and will 
complete the work required thus wrapping up this stage of the project.  It should be noted that 
this crawlspace was never built in a manner that would meet humidity control and now that it 
has been upgraded with appropriate insulation and vapour barrier it is imperative that the 
district monitor it on a regular and frequent basis to ensure no further issues arise. 
 
 



NON RESTORABLE LIST : 
 
The non-restorable list contained well over 5,000 items which required a focused effort to 
initially identify what needed to be replaced and then sourcing out suppliers.  This was a very 
time-consuming task involving many staff (especially Leanne Cleaveley – Librarian, Ben Grant -   
Technology and Sonya Zakall from maintenance) as well as the recruitment of supplemental 
assistance through Lynn Lutter who managed the non-restorable list and Dwan Boyd who 
assisted in procuring the extensive list of lost/damaged Library books/resources. Through 
everyone’s efforts we are now at the stage where we are doing a final review to determine if 
there are still any backorders that have not yet been received. 
 
 
FIELDS/IRRIGATION SYSTEMS: 
 
The last of the extensive restoration work on the field and irrigation system was completed one 
year ago.  This spring we experienced the same winter kill issues that seems to have been 
prevalent in many other communities as noted by references to fields in Kamloops.  This 
required some extensive maintenance and although the district experienced drought conditions 
the fields remained in relatively good condition as reviewed in August 2023.  The contractor that 
completed the restoration work provided a regular annual maintenance program to district staff 
which, if followed, should provide high quality fields for years to come.  Staff have expressed 
concern that they have limited time and expertise to devote to the proper maintenance of these 
fields and worry that they will fall short in meeting expectations. 
 
FENCING: 
 
All fencing requirements were completed last summer and remain in good standard. 
 
SUMMARY: 
 
SPP and the Ministry have both expressed appreciation that this project progressed much more 
quickly than they see with other less extensive claims. Staff and the restoration contractors often 
felt progress was taking longer than they liked, especially with the frustration of supply issues. 
However, at this this point, everyone seems to be happy with the results and appreciative that it 
is ending. The co-operation and respect shown to contractors by staff went a long way in 
ensuring the success of this project. 
 
Respectively Submitted by: 
 
 
Doug Boyd 
Project Manager 
 
 
DB/jmg 



THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF 
SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 58 (NICOLA-SIMILKAMEEN) 

 
ADMINISTRATION OFFICE 

 
  
                               P.O. Box 4100, 1550 Chapman Street, Merritt, B.C., V1K 1B8, Phone: (250) 378-5161 
 

Success for ALL Learners ~ Today and Tomorrow 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
TO: All Trustees  FROM: Dylan Richardson 
     Secretary Treasurer/CFO 
 
RE: FOOD INFRASTRUCTURE PROGRAM (FIP)  DATE: September 8, 2023. 
 
Enclosed trustees will find an excerpt from the Capital Plan Instructions for the Five-Year Capital 
Plan Submission for 2024/25 that introduced the Food Infrastructure Program (FIP): a new 
initiative that forms part of the Ministry’s response towards assisting Boards of Education with 
creating, improving, or expanding infrastructure to feed students across all communities in 
British Columbia. 
 
To help Boards of Education, The Ministry is offering this new program for both the 2023/24 
and 2024/25 capital plans—both of which were due, and were successfully submitted, June 30, 
2023, with $100,000 being the maximum level of funding. Application was made for the 
maximum amount for the following schools. 
 
John Allison (23/24) $100,000 
Merritt Central (23/24) $100,000 
Princeton Secondary (24/25) $100,000 
Merritt Bench (24/25) $100,000 

 
Although the submission for both years, 23/24 and 24/25, was June 30, 2023, a separate board 
motion is required for each. A motion was passed, approving the 24/25 capital plan. Trustees 
will be requested to make a motion, approving the submission of the 23/24 Food Infrastructure 
Program. 
 
 
 
 
 
Dylan Richardson 
Secretary Treasurer/CFO 
 
 
DR/jmg 



1 
 

 

 
 
 

Capital Plan Instructions: 
 

Five-Year Capital Plan Submission 
for 

2024/25 
 
 

These Capital Plan Instructions Supersede All Previous Editions 
 

Updates for the 2024/25 instructions are highlighted in red text 
 
 

 
 

Ministry of Education and Child Care 
Capital Management Branch 



Capital Plan Instructions: Five-Year Capital Plan Submission for 2024/25  March 2023 
 
 

26 
 

students do not have easy access to nearby equipment may be prioritized. 
 
4.2  PEP Project Submission Requirements 
 

 All proposed PEP projects must be submitted using MyCAPS. 
 A maximum of three (3) separate PEP projects may be submitted per school district, for funding 

consideration by the Ministry. Only PEP projects that can be completed by March 31st of the 
prospective fiscal year should be submitted. 

 PEP projects that have previously been supported by the Ministry to receive capital funding must 
not be included in MyCAPS. 

 
5 School Food Infrastructure Program (FIP) 
 
The Capital Management Branch’s School Food Infrastructure Program (FIP) is a new annual program 
intended to assist boards of education with creating, improving, or expanding infrastructure to feed students 
across all communities in British Columbia. The FIP is directly tied to government’s broader Feeding 
Futures program, which is a commitment to ensure students are properly fed for learning to enhance 
positive academic and healthy outcomes for students. 
 
5.1  FIP Project Funding Criteria 
Program parameters for the FIP will be adjusted over time, based on the Ministry’s evolving understanding 
of student needs (as informed by engagement with the sector) as they relate to local service delivery 
capacity (including consideration for existing capacity within local community groups who deliver food 
programming). As such, school districts are encouraged to clearly describe the proposed scope of their 
school food infrastructure improvements within the project requests included within their capital plan 
submission in the foundational years of the program (FY2023/24 and 2024/25). Despite this, the following 
overarching requirements will apply: 
 

 Proposed FIP projects should be focused on minor upgrades such as: 
- Refrigerated vehicles to support the delivery of prepared meals from centralized kitchen 

facilities to schools; 
- The purchase and installation of new or used kitchen equipment (e.g. refrigerators, freezers, 

dishwashers, stoves, ovens, etc.)  
- Space and functionality improvements to ensure kitchens meet local health authority 

requirements; 
- Equipment and infrastructure to support traditional food gathering and preparation (e.g. 

fishing equipment, smokehouses, non-fur trapping equipment); 
- Food storage (refrigerated or dry storage). 

 The FIP is not an enhancement fund to construct new kitchens.* 
 The FIP cannot be used to construct net new space.* 

When purchasing equipment, districts are encouraged to acquire energy-efficient appliances. Evaluation of 
FIP project requests will be supplemented by an array of key indicators, including data on local needs. 
Generally, schools in rural and remote communities and districts with little or no existing school food 



Capital Plan Instructions: Five-Year Capital Plan Submission for 2024/25  March 2023 
 
 

27 
 

programs where no local community solutions (e.g. community kitchens) exist will be prioritized to receive 
capital funding. 
  
The type of food infrastructure improvements that are ineligible for FIP funding include, but are not limited 
to: 

 Purchase or lease of land or buildings; 
 Constructing net new kitchen space* 
 Converting space in an educational facility to a kitchen* 
 Improvements to kitchen space that will not be used to support the delivery of school food 

programs in the district.  
 The purchase or lease of personal/private vehicles 
 The purchase or construction of any buildings such as sheds, storage facilities, etc. 

*Unless there is evidence that there is no opportunity for community partnerships to assist with the delivery 
of local school food programming. 
 
5.2  FIP Project Submission Requirements 

 All FIP project requests must be submitted using MyCAPS. 
- Projects must be submitted under the School Enhancement Program (SEP), with the project 

type set as “Food Infrastructure”. 
- Should the proposed project entail enhancements to existing kitchen space in the school, 

floor plans verifying this space must be submitted as a PDF. 
- If you require additional assistance with the development of your FIP project requests, please 

contact Nathan.Whipp@gov.bc.ca. 
 To afford the Ministry more flexibility when it comes to prioritizing projects, school districts are 

encouraged to submit at least one project in their FIP submissions valued at $100,000 or less. 

Only FIP projects that can be completed by March 31st of the prospective fiscal year will be considered. 
 
PART IV: BUILDING ENVELOPE PROGRAM 
 
The information outlined in Part IV should be read in concert with the information provided in Part 
I. 
 
1 Building Envelope Program (BEP) 

 
The BEP is a program that is available to provide specific funding for remediation to known building 
envelope issues at schools that were built between the years of 1985 and 2000; that have undergone a 
Building Envelope Condition Assessment (BECA) by BC Housing; and that are on BC Housing’s list of 
eligible schools.  
 

1.1 BEP Project Prioritization 
 
School districts have previously been provided with a list of their BEP projects, as ranked by BC Housing. 



THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF 
SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 58 (NICOLA-SIMILKAMEEN) 

 
ADMINISTRATION OFFICE 

 
  
                               P.O. Box 4100, 1550 Chapman Street, Merritt, B.C., V1K 1B8, Phone: (250) 378-5161 
 

Success for ALL Learners ~ Today and Tomorrow 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
TO: All Trustees  FROM: Dylan Richardson 
     Secretary Treasurer/CFO 
 
RE: MERRITT CENTRAL BUS STOP  DATE: September 8, 2023. 
 
Trustees will be provided with an update on configuration changes being introduced on Voght 
Street adjacent to Merritt Central Elementary School that affect the current school bus stop that 
uses the parking lane on Voght Street to complete bus stops. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dylan Richardson 
Secretary Treasurer/CFO 
 
 
DR/jmg 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Merritt Central Elementary School 

 
The City of Merritt is removing the parking lane on Voght Street, adjacent to Merritt Central. The 
parking lane is being removed so that the city can introduce a separate bike lane in addition to 
the existing sidewalk. Buses will lose access to a parking lane and will no longer be able to exit 
the active roadway to complete their stop (See Figure 1 below, highlighted in yellow). Each day 
three school buses stop at Central school for drop-off and pick up (times vary) where the 
stoppage time can endure up to ten minutes. 
 
The school district has been in meeting with the city to discuss possible solutions. During the 
first week of school, the district attempted a full stoppage of traffic with the use of the bus 
lights and stop signs. This type of stop, on the active roadway, did not prove beneficial due to 
the long duration of the bus stop and escalating traffic congestion fueled by parents and staff 
exiting onto the same roadway that the buses stop on. The district has since instructed buses to 
complete their stop by pulling into the central school parking lot and circling around to the 
school’s main entrance to pick up students (also not a great solution due to heavy congestion 
before and after school in the parking lot). 
 
The school district is working with the city to discuss the introduction of a new, bus-only, 
driveway into the school parking lot, that would allow buses to exit the active roadway and 
complete their bus stop. This proposed solution would minimize bus encroachment on the 
parking lot by keeping the bus stop to the outskirts of the parking lot, minimizing added 
congestion. Buses would then exit out the parking lot’s main entrance (See Figure 2). The 
parking space would be divided by road barricades to separate parent parking from bus-only 
parking. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Figure 1. Central bus stop prior to reconfiguration 
 

 
 
Figure 2. New Driveway into and exiting from Central school Parking lot 

 



THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF 
SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 58 (NICOLA-SIMILKAMEEN) 

 
ADMINISTRATION OFFICE 

 
  
                               P.O. Box 4100, 1550 Chapman Street, Merritt, B.C., V1K 1B8, Phone: (250) 378-5161 
 

Success for ALL Learners ~ Today and Tomorrow 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
TO: All Trustees  FROM: Dylan Richardson 
     Secretary Treasurer/CFO 
 
RE: PROCEDURAL BY-LAW  DATE: September 8, 2023 
 
Enclosed, please find a copy of the Procedural By-Law that is being brought before trustees with 
the recommendation for first reading. The enclosed By-Law would replace the existing By-Law, 
1-96 (NO: 204.1 School Board Meetings), highlighting changes in the following areas: 
 

• Meeting Prep / Events placed in Chronological Order 
 

• Clarification of the following: 
o Quorum 
o Agendas 
o Minutes 

 
• Clarification and Recognition of the following: 

o Presentations 
o Delegation 
o Question period 

 
• Clarification of Electronic Participation 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dylan Richardson 
Secretary Treasurer/CFO 
 
 
DR/jmg 



Bylaw No. 2-23 Procedural Bylaw  Page 1 of 10 

BOARD OF EDUCATION OF SCHOOL DISTRICT NO.58  
(NICOLA-SIMILKAMEEN) 

 
BYLAW NO. 2-23 

PROCEDURAL BYLAW 
 

A Bylaw of the Board of Education of School District No. 58 (Nicola-Similkameen), hereinafter 
called “the Board”, to establish procedures governing the conduct of meetings of the Board  
 
 
WHEREAS the School Act requires the Board to establish procedures to govern meetings of the 
Board. 
 
AND WHEREAS the Board wishes to enact meeting procedures to support meetings being 
conducted in a democratic, transparent and efficient manner. 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Board of Education of School District No.58 (Nicola-Similkameen) in an 
open meeting, hereby ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
 

1. CITATION 
 

1.1 This Bylaw may be cited as School District No. 58 (Nicola-Similkameen) Procedural Bylaw 
xx. 

 
1.2 The rules contained in this Bylaw may be amended by bylaw only, at a meeting of which 

notice of intention to propose the amendment has been given at the previous meeting and 
in the notice of the meeting.  

 
1.3 A copy of the Board's procedural Bylaw shall be available for inspection at all  

reasonable times by any person. 
 
2. DEFINITIONS 

 
2.1 The terms used in this Bylaw have the meanings assigned by the School Act except as 

when the context indicates otherwise.  
 
3. OATH OF OFFICE, INAUGURAL MEETING AND ELECTION OF BOARD OFFICERS 
 
3.1 A person elected or appointed as a Trustee must take a prescribed oath of office, by oath 

or solemn affirmation, within the timelines outlined in the School Act, before assuming their 
role as a Trustee on the Board. 

 
3.2 After the general local election of Trustees, the Secretary Treasurer shall convene a first 

meeting of the Board as soon as possible and, in any event, within 30 days from the date 
that the new Board begins its term of office.  

 
3.3 The Secretary Treasurer will call the meeting to order and will preside until a Chair has been 

elected. 
 



Bylaw No. 2-23 Procedural Bylaw  Page 2 of 10 

 
 

3.4 The Secretary Treasurer shall announce the results of Trustee elections and confirm that 
all Trustees have taken the oath of office, or shall administer, or cause to be administered, 
the oath of office to Trustees who have not taken it.  

 
3.5 The Secretary Treasurer shall call for nominations three times for the position of Board 

Chair.  
3.5.1 Trustees may not nominate themselves. 
3.5.2 Nominations do not require a seconder. 
3.5.3 After each nomination, the Secretary Treasurer will request that each 

candidate accept or decline their nomination. 
3.5.4 Once nominations are closed, Trustees, who have accepted a nomination, 

may address their colleagues for two minutes. 
3.5.5 Trustees who are not elected for one office may accept a nomination for 

another office. 
 
3.6 The Secretary Treasurer will then conduct a vote, if necessary, by secret ballot. The 

Secretary Treasurer may designate one or more staff members as scrutineers to count the 
ballots. A person receiving a majority of the total votes cast will be elected Chair of the 
Board. 

3.6.1 If no person receives a clear majority, further ballots will be taken. 
3.6.2 If more than two candidates are on a ballot and no majority is reached, the 

person with the least number of votes will be dropped from the nominees and 
a further ballot conducted. 

3.6.3 If any vote involving only two Trustees ends in a tie vote, the election shall be 
decided by drawing of lots.  

3.6.4 All ballots will be destroyed. 
3.6.5 The Secretary Treasurer will declare the duly elected Chair of the Board and 

will vacate the Chair. 
 
3.7 The Chair so elected shall assume the Chair for the remainder of the meeting.  
 
3.8 Upon assuming the Chair, the Chair will call for nominations for Vice Chair of the Board, 

and then for the BCSTA Provincial Council and BCPSEA Representatives (and their 
alternates) for the ensuing year and will conduct each election in the same manner as 
described in 3.5 and 3.6 above. 

3.8.1 If possible, the Chair shall be from one electoral area and the Vice-Chair 
shall be from another electoral area.  

 
3.9 The Chair and Vice Chair serve in their roles at the pleasure of the Board or until the annual 

Special Meeting in the following November.  
3.9.1 A majority of the Board may elect a new Chair or Vice-Chair at any time.  

 
3.10 Following the elections, the order of business shall include:  

3.10.1 passage of banking resolutions and appointment of signing officers; and,  
3.10.2 appointment of time and place for meetings.  

 

4. ANNUAL SPECIAL MEETING OF THE BOARD AND ELECTION OF BOARD OFFICERS 
 

4.1 In the years when no inaugural meeting is required, an annual Special Meeting of the Board 
will be held, in public, no later than the third Wednesday in November to appoint 
representatives to the BCSTA Provincial Council and BCPSEA Representatives (and their 
alternates) for the ensuing year in accordance with 3.8 above. 



Bylaw No. 2-23 Procedural Bylaw  Page 3 of 10 

 
 

5. MEETINGS OF THE BOARD – AGENDAS, QUORUM AND MINUTES 
5.1 Prior to each meeting, the Secretary Treasurer is responsible to prepare an agenda in 

consultation with the Chair and Superintendent outlining all business to be brought before 
the Board.  

 
5.2 Proposed agenda items may be requested to be on the agenda in one of the following ways: 

5.2.1 Individual Trustees wishing to have business brought before the Board will 
forward the business item to the Chair and Secretary Treasurer to facilitate 
appropriate action. 

5.2.2 As a request from a Committee of the Board. 
5.2.3 At the commencement of a meeting, in the event a Trustee believes that an 

item requires immediate attention, the Chair will allow the item to be added to 
the agenda provided that no objection is raised by any Trustee in 
attendance. If an objection is raised, the item will be added to a subsequent 
Board meeting.  

 
5.3 The Board agenda and supporting documentation will be provided to each Trustee in an 

electronic format, at least 48 hours prior to the meeting. 
5.3.1 Every effort will be made to deliver the agenda and all supporting material to 

Trustees at least three working days prior to the time of Regular and Closed 
Meetings. 

5.3.2 Non receipt by a Trustee shall not void the proceedings. 
5.3.3 Written notice of any meeting will be waived provided that reasonable steps 

have been taken to notify all Trustees of the meeting and that the majority of 
the sitting Trustees agree to the waiving of the written notice. 

5.3.4 The agenda and supporting material for each Regular Meeting will be 
available for the public and interested media through the District website 
subsequent to delivery of the agenda to Trustees. 

5.3.5 Additional supporting information or related correspondence may be 
provided to the Board up to the start of the meeting if the information and 
correspondence is related to items on the published agenda. 

 
5.4 A quorum of the Board is a majority of the Trustees holding office at the time of the meeting. 

5.4.1 If, prior to any meeting, the Chair and/or the Secretary Treasurer have 
received information suggesting there will not be a quorum, the meeting may 
be rescheduled, and attempts will be made to contact all Trustees. 

5.4.2 At the appointed time for commencement of a meeting, the presiding officer 
shall ascertain that a quorum is present before proceeding to the business of 
the meeting. If a quorum has not been made within one-half hour after the 
appointed time, then the meeting will stand adjourned until the next meeting 
date or until another meeting has been called in accordance with this Bylaw. 

5.4.3 After a meeting has commenced, if notice is drawn to a lack of quorum, the 
presiding officer shall ascertain whether there is a lack of quorum and, if so 
found, adjourn the meeting to the next regular meeting date or to another 
meeting called in accordance with this Bylaw. 

 
5.5 In the event both the Chair and Vice Chair are absent, and a quorum is present, the 

Secretary Treasurer will call the Trustees to order and the Trustees will choose a Trustee 
to chair the meeting until the arrival of the Chair or Vice Chair. 

 
5.6 All meetings will begin with recognition of the ancestral, traditional and unceded territories 

of the Nłeʔkepmx and Syilx people and acknowledgement of the Metis communities. 



Bylaw No. 2-23 Procedural Bylaw  Page 4 of 10 

 
 

 
5.7 At all meetings, the Secretary Treasurer must be present at the time that a decision of the 

Board is rendered and must record any decision. If the Secretary Treasurer is unable to 
attend the meeting, or if the meeting concerns the work performance or employment of the 
Secretary Treasurer the Board may designate another employee of the Board to attend the 
meeting in place of the Secretary Treasurer to perform the duties of the Secretary Treasurer 
at the meeting. 

 
5.8 Any Trustee with a conflict of interest in a Meeting will:  

5.8.1 state that they have a conflict of interest in the matter;  
5.8.2 state the general nature of the conflict of interest;  
5.8.3 not take part in any discussion of the matter, if the meeting is not closed to 

the public, or leave any meeting closed to the public; 
5.8.4 not attempt in any way to influence the voting on any question in respect of 

the matter, before, during or after the meeting; and 
5.8.5 abstain from voting on any question in respect of the matter or the part of the 

meeting during which the matter is under consideration. 
 
5.9 The Chair or other Trustee presiding at a meeting may expel from the meeting a person, 

other than a Trustee, that the Chair or other Trustee presiding at the meeting considers 
guilty of improper conduct. A majority of the Trustees present at a meeting of the Board 
may expel a Trustee from the meeting for improper conduct. 

 
5.10 Minutes of the proceedings of all meetings shall be legibly recorded in a minute book, ratified 

at the next meeting of the Board, certified as correct by the Secretary Treasurer or other 
employee designated and the Chair or other Trustee presiding at the meeting. 

5.10.1 Minutes will not record the names of movers and seconders. 
5.10.2 Minutes will not record who voted for or against motions. Trustees may ask 

to have their vote recorded.  
5.10.3 If a Trustee declares a conflict of interest, such conflict will be recorded in the 

minutes.  
5.10.4 Except for minutes of a meeting or portion of a meeting from which persons 

other than Trustees or Board officers, or both, were excluded, the minutes 
will  be published on the District website once adopted. 

 

6. MEETING RULES OF ORDER  
 
6.1 Meetings of the Board will be conducted in accordance with this Bylaw and, where the Bylaw 

is silent, using Robert’s Rules of Order, Newly Revised, except where provisions of the 
School Act may conflict, in which case the latter will prevail.  

 
6.2 The Board may adopt a procedural rule for one or more meetings by resolution approved 

by two-thirds of the Trustees present at the meeting. A rule, other than the requirement for 
notice of meetings, may be suspended by unanimous consent of the Trustees present.  

 
6.3 The presiding officer's ruling on a point of order shall be based on rules of order as stated 

in paragraph 6.1. The ruling shall be subject to an appeal to the Board if requested by a 
Trustee immediately after the ruling and before resumption of business.  
 

6.4 An appeal of a ruling of the presiding officer shall be decided without debate by a majority 
vote of the Trustees present. A successful appeal does not necessarily set a precedent.  

 



Bylaw No. 2-23 Procedural Bylaw  Page 5 of 10 

 
 

7. MOTIONS  
 
7.1 A motion, when introduced, brings business before the meeting for possible action. A motion 

should be worded in a concise, unambiguous and complete form and, if lengthy or complex, 
should be submitted in writing.  

 
7.2 Subject to the concurrence of the seconder, the mover of a motion may withdraw the motion 

at any time prior to the vote being taken. A motion which has been withdrawn may be re-
introduced at the same meeting only by a different Trustee. 
 

7.3 The presiding officer may divide a motion containing more than one subject and it shall be 
voted on in the form in which it is divided.  

 
7.4 All motions shall be seconded.  
 
7.5 The Chair must vote as any other member.  
 
7.6 An amendment is a motion to modify the wording of a pending motion. An amendment must 

be germane, i.e., closely related to or having a bearing on the subject of the motion to be 
amended. A motion can be amended more than once, however, there can be only one 
amendment on the floor at a time and it shall be dealt with before another amendment is 
presented or the motion is decided. An amendment to an amendment must be germane to 
the first amendment and cannot be amended.  

 
7.7 A motion to reconsider a decision can be made the day on which the original motion was 

voted upon. It may be seconded by any member. It is debatable if the motion proposed to 
be reconsidered is debatable and the debate can be on the merits of the original question. 
No question can be reconsidered twice.  

 
7.8 Motions to rescind or to amend something previously adopted will be considered only if 

notice has been given at the previous meeting or in the call for the present meeting and if 
no action has been taken which it is too late to undo. Such motions are debatable and 
debate can go into the merits of the original question. There is no time limit for these motions 
and they can be moved by any member.  

7.9 Motions to rescind or to amend something previously adopted for which notice has been 
given require a majority vote to pass. However, if the original motion required a two-thirds 
vote or a vote of the majority of the Board, the same vote is required on a motion to amend 
or rescind.   

7.10 A motion that has been defeated at a previous meeting can be moved again at a subsequent 
meeting only if notice is given in the call of the meeting.  

 
8. DEBATE  
 
8.1 Debate shall be strictly relevant to the question before the meeting. The presiding officer 

shall warn speakers who violate this rule or who persist in tedious or repetitious debate.  
 

8.2 Speakers shall be recognized by the chair and shall address all remarks to the chair.  
 
8.3 The Chair may vacate the chair to enter debate or propose or second a motion in which 

case the Vice-Chair, if present, or another member appointed by the Chair shall preside.  
 



Bylaw No. 2-23 Procedural Bylaw  Page 6 of 10 

 
 

8.4 Each Trustee has the right to speak twice on the same question on the same day but cannot 
make a second speech so long as any Trustee who has not spoken on the question desires 
to speak. No Trustee shall speak for more than five minutes at one time.  

 
8.5 A matter of privilege (dealing with the rights or interests of the Board as a whole or of a 

Trustee personally) may be raised at any time and shall be dealt with forthwith before 
resumption of business.  
 

8.6 No Trustee shall interrupt another Trustee who has the floor except to raise a point of order, 
a point of privilege or to disclose a conflict of interest.  

 

9. VOTING  
 
9.1  It is expected that all Trustees present at a meeting will vote on each motion, unless a 

Trustee has a declared conflict of interest, in which case the Trustee must not vote and 
such an abstention shall be recorded.  

9.1.1 If a Trustee wishes to abstain for any other reason or to have a negative vote 
recorded he or she must so request before or immediately after the vote is 
taken.  

9.1.2 The Chair will vote at the same time as other Trustees. 
 

9.2 Voting shall be by show of hands and only the results recorded unless a member requests 
recording of names before the vote is taken. Where names are recorded both positive and 
negative votes shall be recorded.  

 
9.3 All questions shall be decided by a majority of the votes of the Trustees present and voting 

unless otherwise provided by the School Act.  
9.3.1 In the case of a tie vote, the motion is defeated. 

 

10. REGULAR MEETINGS OF THE BOARD 
 
10.1 Meetings of the Board shall be open to the public unless, in the opinion of the Board, the 

public interest requires that persons other than Trustees be excluded. 
 
10.2 A Regular Meeting will normally be held monthly during the school year.  

 
10.3 Annually, the Board will determine the schedule of meetings for the following school year 

and will publish the schedule at the beginning of each school year in non-general election 
years, and within sixty (60) days following the election date in general election years. 

10.3.1 The meetings will alternate between Merritt and Princeton.  
 
10.4 A Regular Meeting shall stand adjourned at three hours after its commencement unless a 

consensus has been reached to extend the hour of adjournment.  
 



Bylaw No. 2-23 Procedural Bylaw  Page 7 of 10 

 
 

10.5 The order of business at Regular Meetings will be: 
10.5.1 Call to Order and acknowledgement of the ancestral, traditional and unceded 

territories of the Nłeʔkepmx and Syilx people and acknowledgement of the 
Metis communities. 

10.5.2 Approval of Agenda 
10.5.3 Adoption of Minutes of Prior Meetings 
10.5.4 Report from Closed Meeting  
10.5.5 Recognition, Presentations, and Delegations 
10.5.6 New Business 
10.5.7 Superintendent Report  
10.5.8 Committee Reports 
10.5.9 Trustee Reports 
10.5.10 Public Question Period 
10.5.11 Adjournment 

 
10.6 A change to the order of business may be proposed by any Trustee and shall require 

unanimous consent. 
  

11. RECOGNITION, PRESENTATIONS AND DELEGATIONS AT REGULAR MEETINGS 
 

11.1 The Board welcomes and encourages presentations and delegations from students, 
parents, staff, partners, Rights-holders and others at meetings. 

11.1.1 The Superintendent, or designate, will be responsible to schedule in-district 
presentations and recognition activities. 

11.1.2 Attempts should be made to keep such presentations to approximately 10 
minutes. 

 
11.2 A person or group wishing to address the Board as a delegation on an item not otherwise 

on the agenda will provide a written request outlining the item(s) they wish to present and 
naming a spokesperson. 

11.2.1 Consideration of the request is subject to article 5 of this Bylaw for placement 
on the agenda of a Regular or Closed Meeting. 

11.2.2 A request to present at a Regular Meeting will require a brief written 
submission, including the purpose (information, request for action, etc.) of 
the presentation seven days in advance of the scheduled Regular Meeting 
for distribution to Trustees as part of their agenda package. 

 
11.3 The Board will hear the delegation’s presentation and the Trustees may ask questions for 

clarification. The Board will ordinarily take the presentation under advisement and will take 
action after due deliberation, usually at a subsequent meeting. 

11.3.1 The Chair will rule on the propriety of all presentations and comments and 
may terminate any presentation or comment or refer it to a Closed Meeting of 
the Board if that is deemed to be appropriate by the Chair. 

11.3.2 A maximum of ten minutes will be allowed for each Delegation to make a 
presentation. 

 
11.4 If circumstances warrant, the Board may receive such individuals or Delegations in a Closed 

Meeting. 
 
12. PUBLIC QUESTION PERIOD 

 
12.1 The Regular Meeting is the formally designated means of transacting Board business. 



Bylaw No. 2-23 Procedural Bylaw  Page 8 of 10 

 
 

Communication with the public is extremely important and therefore, a public question 
period of fifteen minutes will be set aside at each Regular Meeting solely as a means for 
ensuring that public who are present in the audience have an opportunity to ask questions 
about business or issues pertaining to the Board agenda.  

12.1.1 Questions regarding personnel or specific students must be raised with the 
Superintendent privately. 

12.1.2 Matters currently under negotiation or litigation, or related to personnel or 
student circumstances, are not permitted and will not be addressed in the 
public question period.   

 
12.2 One question will be taken from each person, after which, time permitting, each person 

may present a second question.  
12.2.1 Speakers must identify themselves and their connection to the District before 

speaking.  
12.2.2 All questions will be limited to five minutes and directed to the Chair, who 

may refer the question to the Superintendent or Secretary Treasurer. 
12.2.3 The Chair may restrict the length of time any one individual may speak. 
12.2.4 The response to a question will be made during the meeting, when possible, 

or deferred until a later date when information becomes available. 
12.2.5 Individuals addressing the Board assume personal responsibility for all 

statements made to the Board. 
12.2.6 The Chair will use judgment to stop any inappropriate questions that would 

be better discussed in a different forum. 
12.2.7 The Chair may use discretion to terminate any speaker’s privilege or exclude 

a speaker from the meeting if, after due warning, the speaker persists with 
conduct or remarks which the Chair considers inappropriate. 

 
13. SPECIAL MEETINGS  
 
13.1 Special Meetings are any meetings held between the regularly scheduled meetings. 

 
13.2 A special meeting open to the public, or a Special Closed Meeting may be called by the s 

or, upon written request by a majority of the Trustees, shall be called by the Secretary 
Treasurer.  

 
13.3 No business other than that for which the meeting was called shall be conducted at the 

meeting.  
 
14. CLOSED MEETINGS  
 
14.1 All matters coming before the Board shall be considered in public unless the public interest 

requires otherwise. In these circumstances, persons other than Trustees may be excluded 
from a meeting or from part of a meeting. Accordingly, the following matters shall be 
considered in closed session unless the Board determines otherwise:  



Bylaw No. 2-23 Procedural Bylaw  Page 9 of 10 

 
 

14.1.1 Personnel matters including contract and collective agreement  negotiations; 
matters pertaining to individual employees including medical matters, 
appointment, promotion, demotion, transfer, conduct, competence, discipline, 
suspension, termination or retirement; grievances and requests of 
employees, Board officers or their bargaining agents or representatives; 
plans that relate to the management of personnel of or the administration of 
the Board and that have not yet been implemented or made public.  

14.1.2 Legal matters: accident claims and other matters where Board liabilities may 
arise; legal opinions and advice respecting the liability or interest of the 
Board or respecting any matter to be considered in closed session; 
information or action regarding legal actions brought by or against the Board.  

14.1.3 Matters pertaining to individual students including medical matters and the 
conduct, discipline, suspension or expulsion of students.  

14.1.4 Acquisition and disposition of real property prior to finalization including: 
future site planning and designation; negotiations regarding purchase, lease 
sale or exchange of real property; purchase of real property; consideration of 
appraisal reports and claims by owners; determination of Board offers; 
expropriation procedures.  

14.1.5 Matters pertaining to the safety, security or protection of Board property.  
14.1.6 Other matters where the Board decides that the public interest so requires.  

 
14.2 The Secretary Treasurer, or other employee designated in accordance with the School Act, 

must be present at the time that a decision of the Board is rendered and must record any 
decision.  

 
14.3 No Trustee shall disclose to the public the proceedings of a closed meeting unless a 

resolution has been passed at the closed meeting to allow such disclosure, except such as 
might be necessary to enforce the conflict of interest provisions of the School Act.  

 
14.4 The Secretary Treasurer shall prepare a record containing a general statement as to the 

nature of the matters discussed and the general nature of the decisions reached at a 
meeting from which persons other than Trustees or officers of the Board or both were 
excluded, and the record shall be provided in the subsequent Regular Meeting of the Board. 

 

15. BYLAWS  
 
15.1 The following matters shall be dealt with only by bylaw:  

15.1.1 adoption of the budget;  
15.1.2 a capital bylaw;  
15.1.3 the acquisition or disposal of property;  
15.1.4 rules and procedures relative to the organization of meetings of the Board;  
15.1.5 amendments to bylaws; and,  
15.1.6 where specifically required by the School Act.  

 
15.2 Every bylaw shall be dealt with in the following stages:  

15.2.1 First reading: no debate or amendment;  
15.2.2 Second reading: discussion of the principle of the bylaw;  
15.2.3 Third reading: consideration of amendments made and final decision.  

  



Bylaw No. 2-23 Procedural Bylaw  Page 10 of 10 

 
 

15.3 When a bylaw has been amended it shall be reprinted as amended and shall not proceed 
until the amended version has been distributed. 
 

15.4  Subject to 14.3, at each of the three readings of a bylaw, the bylaw must be read in full, 
however, a reading of the bylaw may, if a written or printed copy of a bylaw is in the 
possession of each Trustee and is available to each member of the public in attendance at 
the meeting at which the bylaw is to be read, consist of a description of the bylaw by its title 
and a summary of its contents. 
 

15.5 The Board shall not give a bylaw more than two readings at any one meeting unless the 
members of the Board who are present at the meeting unanimously agree to give the bylaw 
all three readings at the meeting.  
 

15.6 The Secretary Treasurer shall certify on a copy of each bylaw, the readings and the times 
thereof and the text of any amendment passed in committee.  
 

15.7  A bylaw may be withdrawn at any stage with consent of the Board.  
   

16. ELECTRONIC PARTICIPATION BY TRUSTEES  
 

16.1 In accordance with the School Act, Trustees may participate in or attend any meeting of the 
Board by telephone or other means of communication, provided that all Trustees and other 
persons participating in or attending the meeting are able to communicate with each other.  

16.2 If a Trustee participates in or attends a meeting of the Board by telephone or other means. 
  

17. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
 
17.1 All points of procedure not provided for in this Bylaw shall be decided in accordance with 

Robert’s Rules of Order, Newly Revised. 
 
17.2 If any part of this Bylaw is held to be invalid by the decision of a court of competent 

jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this Bylaw. 
 

18. REPEAL 
 
18.1 School District No. 58 (Nicola-Similkameen) xxx Bylaw xxx dated December 2, 1996 and 

any previous xx Bylaws, including and amendments thereto, are hereby repealed.  
 
Read a First Time this xxth day of  xxx 2023 

Read a Second Time this xxth day of  xxx 2023 

Read a Third Time this   day of  2023 

ADOPTED this   day of  2023 
 
   

Chair 
 

 Secretary Treasurer 
 

 



THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF 
SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 58 (NICOLA-SIMILKAMEEN) 

 
ADMINISTRATION OFFICE 

 
 

 
                                   P.O. Box 4100, 1550 Chapman Street, Merritt, B.C., V1K 1B8, Phone: (250) 378-5161 
 

Success for ALL Learners ~ Today and Tomorrow 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
TO: All Trustees  FROM: Dylan Richardson 
     Secretary Treasurer 
  
RE: 2023-2024 BOARD MEETING DATES  DATE: September 6, 2023.             
  
Trustees will be provided with provided with an opportunity to discuss and provide direction on 
the proposed board meeting dates for the 2023/24 school year. 
 

September 13, 2023 Princeton 
October 11, 2023 Merritt 
November 8, 2023 Princeton 
December 13, 2023 Merritt 
January 10, 2024 Princeton 
February 14, 2024 Merritt 
March 13, 2024 Princeton 
April 10, 2024 Merritt 
May 8, 2024 Princeton 
June 12, 2024 Merritt 

 
 

 
Dylan Richardson 
Secretary Treasurer/CFO 
DR/jm 



THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF 
SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 58 (NICOLA-SIMILKAMEEN) 

 
ADMINISTRATION OFFICE 

 
 

                                      P.O. Box 4100, 1550 Chapman Street, Merritt, B.C., V1K 1B8, Phone: (250) 378-5161 
 

Success for ALL Learners ~ Today and Tomorrow 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
TO: All Trustees  FROM: Stephen McNiven 
     Superintendent of Schools 
  
RE: 2023-2024 COMMITTEE MEETING DATES  DATE: September 7, 2023. 
  
 
The following committee dates have been set for the 2023-2024 school year: 
 

Committee Date Location / Medium 
Policy Committee Oct 24th,  Virtual / TEAMS Mtg 
Education Committee Oct 25th, Jan 24th, Apr 24th Virtual / TEAMS Mtg 
Accessibility Committee Sep 27th Merritt Board Office / TEAMS 
Equity in Action Committee Sep 19th, Feb Merritt Board Office 
Aboriginal Advisory Committee Oct 24th, Jan 30th, April 9th Merritt Board Office 
Local Education Agreement 
Committee 

Sep 19th, Sep 26th, Nov 28th, Mar 
12th, July 2nd, 

Merritt Board Office 

SEY2KT Committee Merritt Oct – TBD TBD 
SEY2KT Committee Princeton Oct – TBD  TBD 
Budget Consultation Apr 9th (AAC), April 11th 

(Princeton), April 12th, Merritt 
TBD 

 
 
 

 
 
SMcN/sc 


	_Regular Agenda Sept 13 2023
	3 Regular Minutes June 14, 2023
	MOTION CARRIED
	OPERATIONS COMMITTEE
	AUDIT AND FINANCE COMMITTEE
	POLICY

	5a Year End Review Memo
	5a1 Financial Statement Discussion  Analysis-Final-2
	5b audited financial statements memo
	5b1 2022-23 Financial Statement Package - Draft
	5c Carry Forward Targeted Funds Memo
	5c1 Aboriginal Education 0630
	YE Summary

	5c2 Letter to Minister
	Attention:  Honourable Jennifer Whiteside, Minister of Education and Child Care
	RE: Carry Forward of Targeted Funds

	6a - Student Trustees Memo
	6c - Framework for Enhancing Student Learning Report
	6d - Equity in Action - Theory of Change
	6e - Feeding Future Fund
	6f - Accessibility Act Update
	6g - Art for War and Peace
	What is the Sampson-Matthews Collection?

	7a Flood Insurance Claim Update Memo
	7a1 Update from Doug
	7b Capital FIP Memo
	7b1 Capital FIP
	7c Merritt Central Bus Stop Memo
	8a Procedural By-Law Memo
	8a1 - SD58 Procedural  Bylaw Final Sept 8 2023
	1. CITATION
	1.1 This Bylaw may be cited as School District No. 58 (Nicola-Similkameen) Procedural Bylaw xx.
	1.2 The rules contained in this Bylaw may be amended by bylaw only, at a meeting of which notice of intention to propose the amendment has been given at the previous meeting and in the notice of the meeting.
	1.3 A copy of the Board's procedural Bylaw shall be available for inspection at all
	reasonable times by any person.

	2. DEFINITIONS
	2.1 The terms used in this Bylaw have the meanings assigned by the School Act except as when the context indicates otherwise.

	3. Oath of Office, Inaugural Meeting and Election of Board Officers
	3.1 A person elected or appointed as a Trustee must take a prescribed oath of office, by oath or solemn affirmation, within the timelines outlined in the School Act, before assuming their role as a Trustee on the Board.
	3.2 After the general local election of Trustees, the Secretary Treasurer shall convene a first meeting of the Board as soon as possible and, in any event, within 30 days from the date that the new Board begins its term of office.
	3.3 The Secretary Treasurer will call the meeting to order and will preside until a Chair has been elected.
	3.4 The Secretary Treasurer shall announce the results of Trustee elections and confirm that all Trustees have taken the oath of office, or shall administer, or cause to be administered, the oath of office to Trustees who have not taken it.
	3.5 The Secretary Treasurer shall call for nominations three times for the position of Board Chair.
	3.5.1 Trustees may not nominate themselves.
	3.5.2 Nominations do not require a seconder.
	3.5.3 After each nomination, the Secretary Treasurer will request that each candidate accept or decline their nomination.
	3.5.4 Once nominations are closed, Trustees, who have accepted a nomination, may address their colleagues for two minutes.
	3.5.5 Trustees who are not elected for one office may accept a nomination for another office.

	3.6 The Secretary Treasurer will then conduct a vote, if necessary, by secret ballot. The Secretary Treasurer may designate one or more staff members as scrutineers to count the ballots. A person receiving a majority of the total votes cast will be el...
	3.6.1 If no person receives a clear majority, further ballots will be taken.
	3.6.2 If more than two candidates are on a ballot and no majority is reached, the person with the least number of votes will be dropped from the nominees and a further ballot conducted.
	3.6.3 If any vote involving only two Trustees ends in a tie vote, the election shall be decided by drawing of lots.
	3.6.4 All ballots will be destroyed.
	3.6.5 The Secretary Treasurer will declare the duly elected Chair of the Board and will vacate the Chair.

	3.7 The Chair so elected shall assume the Chair for the remainder of the meeting.
	3.8 Upon assuming the Chair, the Chair will call for nominations for Vice Chair of the Board, and then for the BCSTA Provincial Council and BCPSEA Representatives (and their alternates) for the ensuing year and will conduct each election in the same m...
	3.8.1 If possible, the Chair shall be from one electoral area and the Vice-Chair shall be from another electoral area.

	3.9 The Chair and Vice Chair serve in their roles at the pleasure of the Board or until the annual Special Meeting in the following November.
	3.9.1 A majority of the Board may elect a new Chair or Vice-Chair at any time.

	3.10 Following the elections, the order of business shall include:
	3.10.1 passage of banking resolutions and appointment of signing officers; and,
	3.10.2 appointment of time and place for meetings.


	4. Annual Special Meeting of the Board and Election of Board Officers
	4.1 In the years when no inaugural meeting is required, an annual Special Meeting of the Board will be held, in public, no later than the third Wednesday in November to appoint representatives to the BCSTA Provincial Council and BCPSEA Representatives...

	5. Meetings of the Board – Agendas, quorum and minutes
	5.1 Prior to each meeting, the Secretary Treasurer is responsible to prepare an agenda in consultation with the Chair and Superintendent outlining all business to be brought before the Board.
	5.2 Proposed agenda items may be requested to be on the agenda in one of the following ways:
	5.2.1 Individual Trustees wishing to have business brought before the Board will forward the business item to the Chair and Secretary Treasurer to facilitate appropriate action.
	5.2.2 As a request from a Committee of the Board.
	5.2.3 At the commencement of a meeting, in the event a Trustee believes that an item requires immediate attention, the Chair will allow the item to be added to the agenda provided that no objection is raised by any Trustee in attendance. If an objecti...

	5.3 The Board agenda and supporting documentation will be provided to each Trustee in an electronic format, at least 48 hours prior to the meeting.
	5.3.1 Every effort will be made to deliver the agenda and all supporting material to Trustees at least three working days prior to the time of Regular and Closed Meetings.
	5.3.2 Non receipt by a Trustee shall not void the proceedings.
	5.3.3 Written notice of any meeting will be waived provided that reasonable steps have been taken to notify all Trustees of the meeting and that the majority of the sitting Trustees agree to the waiving of the written notice.
	5.3.4 The agenda and supporting material for each Regular Meeting will be available for the public and interested media through the District website subsequent to delivery of the agenda to Trustees.
	5.3.5 Additional supporting information or related correspondence may be provided to the Board up to the start of the meeting if the information and correspondence is related to items on the published agenda.

	5.4 A quorum of the Board is a majority of the Trustees holding office at the time of the meeting.
	5.4.1 If, prior to any meeting, the Chair and/or the Secretary Treasurer have received information suggesting there will not be a quorum, the meeting may be rescheduled, and attempts will be made to contact all Trustees.
	5.4.2 At the appointed time for commencement of a meeting, the presiding officer shall ascertain that a quorum is present before proceeding to the business of the meeting. If a quorum has not been made within one-half hour after the appointed time, th...
	5.4.3 After a meeting has commenced, if notice is drawn to a lack of quorum, the presiding officer shall ascertain whether there is a lack of quorum and, if so found, adjourn the meeting to the next regular meeting date or to another meeting called in...

	5.5 In the event both the Chair and Vice Chair are absent, and a quorum is present, the Secretary Treasurer will call the Trustees to order and the Trustees will choose a Trustee to chair the meeting until the arrival of the Chair or Vice Chair.
	5.6 All meetings will begin with recognition of the ancestral, traditional and unceded territories of the Nłeʔkepmx and Syilx people and acknowledgement of the Metis communities.
	5.7 At all meetings, the Secretary Treasurer must be present at the time that a decision of the Board is rendered and must record any decision. If the Secretary Treasurer is unable to attend the meeting, or if the meeting concerns the work performance...
	5.8 Any Trustee with a conflict of interest in a Meeting will:
	5.8.1 state that they have a conflict of interest in the matter;
	5.8.2 state the general nature of the conflict of interest;
	5.8.3 not take part in any discussion of the matter, if the meeting is not closed to the public, or leave any meeting closed to the public;
	5.8.4 not attempt in any way to influence the voting on any question in respect of the matter, before, during or after the meeting; and
	5.8.5 abstain from voting on any question in respect of the matter or the part of the meeting during which the matter is under consideration.

	5.9 The Chair or other Trustee presiding at a meeting may expel from the meeting a person, other than a Trustee, that the Chair or other Trustee presiding at the meeting considers guilty of improper conduct. A majority of the Trustees present at a mee...
	5.10 Minutes of the proceedings of all meetings shall be legibly recorded in a minute book, ratified at the next meeting of the Board, certified as correct by the Secretary Treasurer or other employee designated and the Chair or other Trustee presidin...
	5.10.1 Minutes will not record the names of movers and seconders.
	5.10.2 Minutes will not record who voted for or against motions. Trustees may ask to have their vote recorded.
	5.10.3 If a Trustee declares a conflict of interest, such conflict will be recorded in the minutes.
	5.10.4 Except for minutes of a meeting or portion of a meeting from which persons other than Trustees or Board officers, or both, were excluded, the minutes will  be published on the District website once adopted.


	6. MEETING RULES OF ORDER
	6.1 Meetings of the Board will be conducted in accordance with this Bylaw and, where the Bylaw is silent, using Robert’s Rules of Order, Newly Revised, except where provisions of the School Act may conflict, in which case the latter will prevail.
	6.2 The Board may adopt a procedural rule for one or more meetings by resolution approved by two-thirds of the Trustees present at the meeting. A rule, other than the requirement for notice of meetings, may be suspended by unanimous consent of the Tru...
	6.3 The presiding officer's ruling on a point of order shall be based on rules of order as stated in paragraph 6.1. The ruling shall be subject to an appeal to the Board if requested by a Trustee immediately after the ruling and before resumption of b...
	6.4 An appeal of a ruling of the presiding officer shall be decided without debate by a majority vote of the Trustees present. A successful appeal does not necessarily set a precedent.

	7. Motions
	7.1 A motion, when introduced, brings business before the meeting for possible action. A motion should be worded in a concise, unambiguous and complete form and, if lengthy or complex, should be submitted in writing.
	7.2 Subject to the concurrence of the seconder, the mover of a motion may withdraw the motion at any time prior to the vote being taken. A motion which has been withdrawn may be re-introduced at the same meeting only by a different Trustee.
	7.3 The presiding officer may divide a motion containing more than one subject and it shall be voted on in the form in which it is divided.
	7.4 All motions shall be seconded.
	7.5 The Chair must vote as any other member.
	7.6 An amendment is a motion to modify the wording of a pending motion. An amendment must be germane, i.e., closely related to or having a bearing on the subject of the motion to be amended. A motion can be amended more than once, however, there can b...
	7.7 A motion to reconsider a decision can be made the day on which the original motion was voted upon. It may be seconded by any member. It is debatable if the motion proposed to be reconsidered is debatable and the debate can be on the merits of the ...
	7.8 Motions to rescind or to amend something previously adopted will be considered only if notice has been given at the previous meeting or in the call for the present meeting and if no action has been taken which it is too late to undo. Such motions ...
	7.9 Motions to rescind or to amend something previously adopted for which notice has been given require a majority vote to pass. However, if the original motion required a two-thirds vote or a vote of the majority of the Board, the same vote is requir...
	7.10 A motion that has been defeated at a previous meeting can be moved again at a subsequent meeting only if notice is given in the call of the meeting.

	8. Debate
	8.1 Debate shall be strictly relevant to the question before the meeting. The presiding officer shall warn speakers who violate this rule or who persist in tedious or repetitious debate.
	8.2 Speakers shall be recognized by the chair and shall address all remarks to the chair.
	8.3 The Chair may vacate the chair to enter debate or propose or second a motion in which case the Vice-Chair, if present, or another member appointed by the Chair shall preside.
	8.4 Each Trustee has the right to speak twice on the same question on the same day but cannot make a second speech so long as any Trustee who has not spoken on the question desires to speak. No Trustee shall speak for more than five minutes at one time.
	8.5 A matter of privilege (dealing with the rights or interests of the Board as a whole or of a Trustee personally) may be raised at any time and shall be dealt with forthwith before resumption of business.
	8.6 No Trustee shall interrupt another Trustee who has the floor except to raise a point of order, a point of privilege or to disclose a conflict of interest.

	9. Voting
	9.1  It is expected that all Trustees present at a meeting will vote on each motion, unless a Trustee has a declared conflict of interest, in which case the Trustee must not vote and such an abstention shall be recorded.
	9.1.1 If a Trustee wishes to abstain for any other reason or to have a negative vote recorded he or she must so request before or immediately after the vote is taken.
	9.1.2 The Chair will vote at the same time as other Trustees.

	9.2 Voting shall be by show of hands and only the results recorded unless a member requests recording of names before the vote is taken. Where names are recorded both positive and negative votes shall be recorded.
	9.3 All questions shall be decided by a majority of the votes of the Trustees present and voting unless otherwise provided by the School Act.
	9.3.1 In the case of a tie vote, the motion is defeated.


	10. Regular Meetings OF THE BOARD
	10.1 Meetings of the Board shall be open to the public unless, in the opinion of the Board, the public interest requires that persons other than Trustees be excluded.
	10.2 A Regular Meeting will normally be held monthly during the school year.
	10.3 Annually, the Board will determine the schedule of meetings for the following school year and will publish the schedule at the beginning of each school year in non-general election years, and within sixty (60) days following the election date in ...
	10.3.1 The meetings will alternate between Merritt and Princeton.

	10.4 A Regular Meeting shall stand adjourned at three hours after its commencement unless a consensus has been reached to extend the hour of adjournment.
	10.5 The order of business at Regular Meetings will be:
	10.5.1 Call to Order and acknowledgement of the ancestral, traditional and unceded territories of the Nłeʔkepmx and Syilx people and acknowledgement of the Metis communities.
	10.5.2 Approval of Agenda
	10.5.3 Adoption of Minutes of Prior Meetings
	10.5.4 Report from Closed Meeting
	10.5.5 Recognition, Presentations, and Delegations
	10.5.6 New Business
	10.5.7 Superintendent Report
	10.5.8 Committee Reports
	10.5.9 Trustee Reports
	10.5.10 Public Question Period
	10.5.11 Adjournment

	10.6 A change to the order of business may be proposed by any Trustee and shall require unanimous consent.

	11. Recognition, Presentations and Delegations AT Regular Meetings
	11.1 The Board welcomes and encourages presentations and delegations from students, parents, staff, partners, Rights-holders and others at meetings.
	11.1.1 The Superintendent, or designate, will be responsible to schedule in-district presentations and recognition activities.
	11.1.2 Attempts should be made to keep such presentations to approximately 10 minutes.

	11.2 A person or group wishing to address the Board as a delegation on an item not otherwise on the agenda will provide a written request outlining the item(s) they wish to present and naming a spokesperson.
	11.2.1 Consideration of the request is subject to article 5 of this Bylaw for placement on the agenda of a Regular or Closed Meeting.
	11.2.2 A request to present at a Regular Meeting will require a brief written submission, including the purpose (information, request for action, etc.) of the presentation seven days in advance of the scheduled Regular Meeting for distribution to Trus...

	11.3 The Board will hear the delegation’s presentation and the Trustees may ask questions for clarification. The Board will ordinarily take the presentation under advisement and will take action after due deliberation, usually at a subsequent meeting.
	11.3.1 The Chair will rule on the propriety of all presentations and comments and may terminate any presentation or comment or refer it to a Closed Meeting of the Board if that is deemed to be appropriate by the Chair.
	11.3.2 A maximum of ten minutes will be allowed for each Delegation to make a presentation.

	11.4 If circumstances warrant, the Board may receive such individuals or Delegations in a Closed Meeting.
	12.1.1 Questions regarding personnel or specific students must be raised with the Superintendent privately.
	12.1.2 Matters currently under negotiation or litigation, or related to personnel or student circumstances, are not permitted and will not be addressed in the public question period.
	12.2.1 Speakers must identify themselves and their connection to the District before speaking.
	12.2.2 All questions will be limited to five minutes and directed to the Chair, who may refer the question to the Superintendent or Secretary Treasurer.
	12.2.3 The Chair may restrict the length of time any one individual may speak.
	12.2.4 The response to a question will be made during the meeting, when possible, or deferred until a later date when information becomes available.
	12.2.5 Individuals addressing the Board assume personal responsibility for all statements made to the Board.
	12.2.6 The Chair will use judgment to stop any inappropriate questions that would be better discussed in a different forum.
	12.2.7 The Chair may use discretion to terminate any speaker’s privilege or exclude a speaker from the meeting if, after due warning, the speaker persists with conduct or remarks which the Chair considers inappropriate.


	13. Special Meetings
	13.1 Special Meetings are any meetings held between the regularly scheduled meetings.
	13.2 A special meeting open to the public, or a Special Closed Meeting may be called by the s or, upon written request by a majority of the Trustees, shall be called by the Secretary Treasurer.
	13.3 No business other than that for which the meeting was called shall be conducted at the meeting.

	14. Closed Meetings
	14.1 All matters coming before the Board shall be considered in public unless the public interest requires otherwise. In these circumstances, persons other than Trustees may be excluded from a meeting or from part of a meeting. Accordingly, the follow...
	14.1.1 Personnel matters including contract and collective agreement  negotiations; matters pertaining to individual employees including medical matters, appointment, promotion, demotion, transfer, conduct, competence, discipline, suspension, terminat...
	14.1.2 Legal matters: accident claims and other matters where Board liabilities may arise; legal opinions and advice respecting the liability or interest of the Board or respecting any matter to be considered in closed session; information or action r...
	14.1.3 Matters pertaining to individual students including medical matters and the conduct, discipline, suspension or expulsion of students.
	14.1.4 Acquisition and disposition of real property prior to finalization including: future site planning and designation; negotiations regarding purchase, lease sale or exchange of real property; purchase of real property; consideration of appraisal ...
	14.1.5 Matters pertaining to the safety, security or protection of Board property.
	14.1.6 Other matters where the Board decides that the public interest so requires.

	14.2 The Secretary Treasurer, or other employee designated in accordance with the School Act, must be present at the time that a decision of the Board is rendered and must record any decision.
	14.3 No Trustee shall disclose to the public the proceedings of a closed meeting unless a resolution has been passed at the closed meeting to allow such disclosure, except such as might be necessary to enforce the conflict of interest provisions of th...
	14.4 The Secretary Treasurer shall prepare a record containing a general statement as to the nature of the matters discussed and the general nature of the decisions reached at a meeting from which persons other than Trustees or officers of the Board o...

	15. Bylaws
	15.1 The following matters shall be dealt with only by bylaw:
	15.1.1 adoption of the budget;
	15.1.2 a capital bylaw;
	15.1.3 the acquisition or disposal of property;
	15.1.4 rules and procedures relative to the organization of meetings of the Board;
	15.1.5 amendments to bylaws; and,
	15.1.6 where specifically required by the School Act.

	15.2 Every bylaw shall be dealt with in the following stages:
	15.2.1 First reading: no debate or amendment;
	15.2.2 Second reading: discussion of the principle of the bylaw;
	15.2.3 Third reading: consideration of amendments made and final decision.

	15.3 When a bylaw has been amended it shall be reprinted as amended and shall not proceed until the amended version has been distributed.
	15.4  Subject to 14.3, at each of the three readings of a bylaw, the bylaw must be read in full, however, a reading of the bylaw may, if a written or printed copy of a bylaw is in the possession of each Trustee and is available to each member of the p...
	15.5 The Board shall not give a bylaw more than two readings at any one meeting unless the members of the Board who are present at the meeting unanimously agree to give the bylaw all three readings at the meeting.
	15.6 The Secretary Treasurer shall certify on a copy of each bylaw, the readings and the times thereof and the text of any amendment passed in committee.
	15.7  A bylaw may be withdrawn at any stage with consent of the Board.

	16. Electronic Participation by Trustees
	16.1 In accordance with the School Act, Trustees may participate in or attend any meeting of the Board by telephone or other means of communication, provided that all Trustees and other persons participating in or attending the meeting are able to com...
	16.2 If a Trustee participates in or attends a meeting of the Board by telephone or other means.

	17. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
	17.1 All points of procedure not provided for in this Bylaw shall be decided in accordance with Robert’s Rules of Order, Newly Revised.
	17.2 If any part of this Bylaw is held to be invalid by the decision of a court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this Bylaw.

	18. REPEAL
	18.1 School District No. 58 (Nicola-Similkameen) xxx Bylaw xxx dated December 2, 1996 and any previous xx Bylaws, including and amendments thereto, are hereby repealed.


	9c 2023-20234 Board Meeting Dates Memo
	9d - 2023-2024 Committee Meeting Dates



